Antidepressant-like Effects of Total Glycosides of Peony and its Possible Mechanisms

MAO, Qingqiu

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment

of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Chinese Medicine

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

August 2010

UMI Number: 3483334

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3483334 Copyright 2011 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 Thesis/Assessment Committee

Professor Lin Zhi Xiu (Chair)

Professor Che Chun Tao (Thesis Supervisor)

Professor Liu Wing Keung Ken (Committee Member)

Professor Huang Zhen (External Examiner)

Abstract of thesis entitled:

Antidepressant-like Effects of Total Glycosides of Peony and its Possible Mechanisms Submitted by Mao Qingqiu for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chinese Medicine

at The Chinese University of Hong Kong in August, 2010

Abstract

The root of *Paeonia lactiflora* Pall. (Family: Ranunculaceae), commonly known as peony, is a component herb of many traditional formulae for the treatment of depression-like disorders. Previous studies have demonstrated the antidepressive effect of peony extract in mouse models of depression. Total glycosides of peony (TGP) is regarded as the major active ingredients of peony. The present study aims to confirm the antidepressive potential of TGP and evaluate its action mechanisms.

The antidepressant-like effect of TGP was firstly evaluated by the behavioral despair test, forced swim test and tail suspension test. The results showed that intragastric administration of TGP caused a significant reduction of immobility time in both forced swim and tail suspension tests in mice. TGP treatment also significantly reduced the duration of immobility time in the forced swim test in rats.

Secondly, the antidepressant-like effect of TGP was evaluated by a rat model of depression

induced by chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS). The results showed that a 5-week CUMS caused depression-like behavior in rats, as indicated by a significant decreases in sucrose consumption (assessed by sucrose preference test) and locomotor activity (assessed by open-field test), and an increase in immobility time (assessed by forced swim test). Intragastric administration of TGP during the five weeks of CUMS procedure significantly suppressed these behavioral changes induced by CUMS.

Thirdly, the neuroprotective effects of TGP on CUMS-treated rats and its possible mechanisms were investigated. The results showed that treatment with TGP for 5 weeks produced neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. This effect was associated with the attenuation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis hyperactivation (characterized by a decreased serum corticosterone level and an increased hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor expression), an inhibition of oxidative stress, and up-regulation of neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3 in the hippocampus.

Finally, the neuroprotective effects of TGP against corticosterone-induced neurotoxicity in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells, an *in vitro* experimental model of depression were studied. The results showed TGP treatment dose-dependently protected the cells against corticosterone-induced toxicity. The cytoprotection afforded by TGP treatment was shown to be associated with an enhanced antioxidant activity, and increased expressions of neurotrophins including brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor and neurotrophin-3.

Taken together, the results confirmed the antidepressant-like effect of TGP. The antidepressive action of TGP may be mediated by the modulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function, the inhibition of oxidative stress, and the up-regulation of neurotrophins, thereby leading to the neuroprotective effects.

論文摘要

白芍是中醫臨床治療抑鬱症的常見中藥之一。課題組之前的藥理實驗也表明白芍提 取物有抗抑鬱症作用。白芍總苷是白芍的有效成分,本論文將研究白芍總苷的抗實 驗性抑鬱症作用,並探討其可能作用機制。

首先應用強迫游泳實驗和懸尾應激實驗檢測白芍總苷的抗抑鬱作用。實驗結果表明 白芍總苷口服給藥能顯著縮短強迫游泳及懸尾應激小鼠的不動時間。白芍總苷口服 給藥同時還能顯著縮短強迫游泳大鼠的不動時間。

其次,應用未預知慢型應激抑鬱症大鼠模型進一步驗證白芍總苷的抗抑鬱作用。實驗結果表明5周未預知慢型應激能導致大鼠出現抑鬱症狀,表現為與正常大鼠比較: 未預知慢型應激組大鼠的糖水消耗量顯著減少;未預知慢型應激組大鼠的自主活動 明顯減少;未預知慢型應激組大鼠的強迫游泳時間明顯增加。白芍總苷與應激同時 口服給藥5周能顯著抑制由未預知慢型應激引起的大鼠行為學變化。

在確認白芍總苷具有抗抑鬱症作用的研究基礎之上,應用未預知慢型應激抑鬱症大 鼠模型探討了白芍總苷的神經保護作用及其機理。實驗結果表明白芍總苷能明顯增 加未預知慢性應激抑鬱模型大鼠海馬 CA3 區錐體細胞數,表現出神經保護作用。白 芍總苷的神經保護作用被證實與白芍總苷抑制下丘腦-垂體-腎上腺軸活性,抑制海 馬氧化應激以及增加神經營養因數如腦源性神經營養因數和神經營養素-3 表達相

- iv -

最後,應用一種抑鬱症體外模型(皮質酮所致 PC12 細胞損傷模型)研究了白芍總苷 的神經保護作用及其機理。實驗結果表明白芍總苷對皮質酮所致的 PC12 細胞損傷有 明顯的保護作用。白芍總苷的體外神經保護作用與白芍總苷抑制氧化應激以及增加 神經營養因數如腦源性神經營養因數,神經生長因數和神經營養素-3 表達相關。

綜上所述,白芍總苷具有顯著的抗實驗性抑鬱症作用。白芍總苷抗抑鬱作用機制可 能與白芍總苷抑制下丘腦-垂體-腎上腺軸活性,抑制氧化應激,增加神經營養因數 表達,進而起到神經保護作用相關。

Publications based on the work in this thesis

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT (2008) Antidepressant-like effect of peony glycosides in mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 119: 272-275.

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Ko KM, Tsai SH, Che CT (2009) Peony glycosides produce antidepressant-like action in mice exposed to chronic unpredictable mild stress: effects on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function and brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 33: 1211–1216.

Mao QQ, Xian YF, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT (2010) Long-term treatment with peony glycosides reverses chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depressive-like behavior via increasing expression of neurotrophins in rat brain. *Behavioural Brain Research* 210: 171-177.

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Ko KM, Tsai SH, Zhao M, Che CT (2009) Peony glycosides protect against corticosterone-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 Cells. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 29: 643–647.

Mao QQ, Xian YF, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT. Protective effects of peony glycosides against corticosterone-induced cell death in PC12 cells via antioxidant mechanisms. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* (submitted for publication).

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT (2008) Antidepressant-like effect of total glycosides of peony in mice. Presented at: *7th Joint Meeting of AFERP, ASP, GA, PSE & SIF* August 3-8, Athens, Greece.

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT (2009) Antidepressant-like effect of the glycoside-rich extract of peony in a rat model of depression. Presented at: 50th Anniversary Meeting of the American Society of Pharmacognosy June 27-July 1, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA.

Mao QQ, Ip SP, Tsai SH, Che CT (2009) Exploring antidepressive mechanism of the glycoside-rich extract of Radix Paeonia Alba in rats. Presented at: The 1st Macao Forum and The 1st PhD Student Forum on Chinese Medicine Sciences November 12-14, Macao SAR, China.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude first and foremost to Professor Che Chun-Tao, for his kind guidance and support during the period of my research work. My heartfelt gratitude also goes to Dr. Ip Siu-Po for his constant support in this project and helpful instruction.

I am also sincerely grateful to Professor Ko Kam-Ming (Department of Biochemistry, The Hong Kong University of Science & Technology) for his assistance in these project. Special thanks also go to Dr. Tjong Yung-Wui and Ms. Xian Yan-Fang for their assistance in animal experiments. The helpful assistance in cell culture offered by Dr. Chen Meng-Li and Dr. Liang Jing are also deeply appreciated. To Dr. Tsai Sam-Hip, his assistance in chemical analysis is appreciated. Thanks also go to Professor Lin Zhi-Xiu, Dr. Zhao Ming, Dr. Yang Jia-Ming, Mr. Lan Ling-Ling, Ms. Hong Si-Jia, Mr. He Yi, Ms Zong Yu-Ying and other people in the School of Chinese Medicine who have helped me a lot.

I owe my last and deepest gratitude to my beloved mother and father for their selfless loving, constant support and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Abstract (English)	i
Abstract (Chinese)	iv
Publications	vi
Acknowledgement	vii
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xvi
List of Tables	xix
List of Abbreviations	xx

Chapter 1	Introduction	1
1.1	Characteristics and prevalence of depression	1
1.2	Pathogenesis of depression	2
1.2.1	The role of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of depression	4
1.2.2	The mechanisms of hippocampal neuronal damage in depression	7
1.2.2.1	Hyperactivation of the HPA axis	7
1.2.2.2	Extracellular glutamate accumulation	10
1.2.2.3	Increased production of NO	12
1.2.2.4	Increased oxidative stress	14
1.2.2.5	Decreased neurotrophins contents	17
1.3	Stress induced animal models of depression	19

1.3.1	Learned helplessness model	20
1.3.2	Behavioral despair model	21
1.3.3	Chronic unpredictable mild stress model	23
1.4	Drugs for treating depression	25
1.4.1	TCAs	25
1.4.2	MAOIs	28
1.4.3	SSRIs	29
1.4.4	NRIs	30
1.4.5	DMRIs	31
1.4.6	NaSSAs	32
1.4.7	Herbal medicines	33
1.5	Pharmacological activities of total glycosides of peony (TGP)	35
1.5.1	Anti-cancer effects	36
1.5.2	Anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects	36
1.5.3	Antioxidant activities	38
1.5.4	Hepatoprotective effects	39
1.5.5	Effects on central nervous system	40
1.5.6	Renoprotective effects	42
1.5.7	Other pharmacological effects	43
1.6	Objectives of this study	44

Chanter ?	Antidepressant-like effects of total glycosides of peony in the					
Chapter 2	forced swim test and tail suspension test	10				
2.1	Introduction					
2.2	Materials and methods					
2.2.1	Drugs and chemical reagents					
2.2.2	Animals	49				
2.2.3	Drug administration	49				
2.2.4	Forced swim test in mice	50				
2.2.5	Forced swim test in rats	51				
2.2.6	Tail suspension test in mice	51				
2.2.7	Open-field test in mice	52				
2.2.8	Open-field test in rats					
2.2.9	Statistical analysis					
2.3	Results	54				
2.2.1	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test	54				
2.3.1	in mice					
	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test	55				
2.3.2	in rats	55				
0.0.0	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the tail suspension	56				
2.3.3	test in mice					
2.3.4	Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in mice	57				
2.3.5	Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in rats	58				
2.4	Discussion	59				

Charten 2	Antidepressant-like effects of total glycosides of peony in chronic				
Chapter 3	unpredictable mild stress-induced depression model in rats				
3.1	Introduction	61			
3.2	Materials and methods	62			
3.2.1	Drugs and chemical reagents	62			
3.2.2	Animals	63			
3.2.3	CUMS procedure	63			
3.2.4	Sucrose preference test	66			
3.2.5	Open-field test	66			
3.2.6	Forced swim test	67			
3.2.7	Statistical analysis	68			
3.3	Results	69			
331	Effect of TGP on the percentage of sucrose consumption in				
5.5.1	CUMS-treated rats	07			
332	Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in				
5.5.2	CUMS-treated rats				
3 3 3	Effect of TGP on the immobility time in the forced swim test in	73			
5.5.5	CUMS-treated rats				
3.4	Discussion	75			

Antidepressive and neuroprotective mechanisms of total

Chapter 4 glycosides of peony in rats treated with chronic unpredictable 78 mild stress

4.1	Introduction	78
4.2	Materials and methods	80
4.2.1	Drugs and chemical reagents	80
4.2.2	Animals	81
4.2.3	CUMS procedure	81
4.2.4	Histological analysis	82
4.2.5	Blood sampling and tissue collection	83
4.2.6	Measurement of corticosterone level in serum	83
4.2.7	Biochemical analysis	84
4.2.7.1	Preparation of tissue homogenates	84
4.2.7.2	Measurement of intracellular ROS level	85
4.2.7.3	Measurement of MDA content	85
4.2.7.4	Measurement of GSH content	86
4.2.7.5	Measurement of SOD activity	87
4.2.7.6	Measurement of CAT activity	87
4.2.7.7	Measurement of protein concentration	88
4.2.8	Measurement of GR, MR, BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels	88
4.2.9	Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein levels	89
4.2.10	Statistical analysis	92
4.3	Results	93

4	121	Effect of TGP on pyramidal neuronal cell loss in the hippocampal	03	
	4.3.1	CA3 region of CUMS-treated rats	95	
	4.3.2	Effect of TGP on serum corticosterone level in CUMS-treated rats	97	
	4.2.2	Effect of TGP on GR and MR mRNA levels in the hippocampus of	08	
	4.3.3	CUMS-treated rats		
	4.2.4	Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of	100	
	4.3.4	CUMS-treated rats	100	
	4 2 5	Effect of TGP on MDA content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated	101	
	4.3.5	rats	101	
	126	Effect of TGP on GSH content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated	102	
	4.3.0	rats	102	
	4.3.7	Effect of TGP on SOD activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated	103	
		rats	105	
	128	Effect of TGP on CAT activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated	104	
	4.3.8	rats	104	
		Effect of TGP on BDNF protein and mRNA levels in the	105	
	4.3.9	hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats	105	
	4 2 10	Effect of TGP on NGF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus	107	
	4.3.10	of CUMS-treated rats	107	
	4 2 11	Effect of TGP on NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus	100	
2	4.3.11	of CUMS-treated rats	109	
	4.4	Discussion	111	

Neuroprotective effects of total glycosides of peony against

Chapter 5 corticosterone-induced cell death in PC12 cells and its possible 119 mechanisms

5.1	Introduction	119
5.2	Materials and methods	121
5.2.1	Drugs and chemical reagents	121
5.2.2	Cell culture and treatment	122
5.2.3	Cell viability assay	123
5.2.4	Trypan blue exclusion assay	123
5.2.5	Cytotoxicity assay	124
5.2.6	Measurement of intracellular ROS level	125
5.2.7	Measurement of MDA content	126
5.2.8	Measurement of GSH content	127
5.2.9	Measurement of SOD activity	128
5.2.10	Measurement of CAT activity	128
5.2.11	Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels	129
5.2.12	Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein levels	130
5.2.13	Measurement of protein concentration	133
5.2.14	Statistical analysis	134
5.3	Results	135
5 2 1	Effect of TGP on the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12	125
5.5.1	cells	133
5.3.2	Effect of TGP on the LDH leakage in corticosterone-treated PC12	137

cells

5 2 2	Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in corticosterone-treated								120		
5.3.3	PC12 cells								130		
5.3.4	Effects	of T(GP on l	MDA	content	in cortico	steron	e-treated	PC12 cel	lls	139
5.3.5	Effects	of T(GP on (GSH	content	in corticos	sterone	e-treated P	PC12 cell	ls	140
5.3.6	Effects	of T(GP on S	SOD	activity	in cortico	sterone	e-treated H	PC12 cel	ls	141
5.3.7	Effects	of T(GP on (CAT	activity i	n corticos	sterone	-treated P	C12 cell	s	142
5 2 0	Effect	of	TGP	on	BDNF	protein	and	mRNA	levels	in	1/2
5.5.8	corticosterone-treated PC12 cells								145		
5 2 0	Effect	of	TGP	on	NGF	protein	and	mRNA	levels	in	145
5.5.9	corticosterone-treated PC12 cells							145			
5 2 10	Effect	of	TGP	on	NT-3	protein	and	mRNA	levels	in	147
5.5.10	corticosterone-treated PC12 cells								147		
5.4	Discuss	ion									149
Chapter 6	General	Dise	cussion	and	Future V	Vork					154
References											158

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Basal activity of the HPA axis	9
Figure 1.2	Glutamate synthesis and excitotoxicity pathways	11
Figure 1.3	Model of NO-mediated excitotoxicity	14
Figure 1.4	An balance between the production of ROS and anti-oxidant	16
	defense systems in cells	
Figure 1.5	Different receptor types of neurotrophins	18
Figure 1.6	The chemical structure of paeoniflorin and albiflorin	35
Figure 2.1	High-performance liquid chromatography of TGP	48
Figure 2.2	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test	54
	in mice	
Figure 2.3	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test	55
	in rats	
Figure 2.4	Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the tail suspension	56
	test in mice	
Figure 3.1	Effect of TGP on the percentage of sucrose consumption in	70
	CUMS-treated rats	
Figure 3.2	Effect of TGP on the number of crossings (A) and rearings (B) in	72
	the open-field test in CUMS-treated rats	
Figure 3.3	Effect of TGP on the immobility time in the forced swim test in	74
	CUMS-treated rats	
Figure 4.1A	Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the control	94

group (Nissl staining, magnification ×200)

- Figure 4.1B Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the vehicle 94 plus CUMS group (Nissl staining, magnification ×200)
- Figure 4.1C Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the TGP (80 95 mg/kg) plus CUMS group (Nissl staining, magnification ×200)
- Figure 4.1D Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the TGP (160 95 mg/kg) plus CUMS group (Nissl staining, magnification ×200)
- Figure 4.2 Quantitative analysis of the number of pyramidal neuronal cells in 96 the hippocampal CA3 region
- Figure 4.3 Effect of TGP on serum corticosterone level in CUMS-treated rats 97
- Figure 4.4 Effect of TGP on GR (A) and MR (B) mRNA levels in the 99 hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.5 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of 100 CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.6 Effect of TGP on MDA content in the hippocampus of 101 CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.7 Effect of TGP on GSH content in the hippocampus of 102 CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.8 Effect of TGP on SOD activity in the hippocampus of 103 CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.9 Effect of TGP on CAT activity in the hippocampus of 104 CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.10 Effect of TGP on BDNF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the 106

hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

- Figure 4.11 Effect of TGP on NGF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the 108 hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 4.12 Effect of TGP on NT-3 protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the 110 hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats
- Figure 5.1 Effect of TGP on the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 136 cells
- Figure 5.2 Effect of TGP on the LDH leakage in corticosterone-treated PC12 137 cells
- Figure 5.3 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in corticosterone-treated 138 PC12 cells
- Figure 5.4 Effect of TGP on MDA content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells 139
- Figure 5.5 Effect of TGP on GSH content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells 140
- Figure 5.6 Effect of TGP on SOD activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells 141
- Figure 5.7 Effect of TGP on CAT activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells 142
- Figure 5.8 Effect of TGP on BDNF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in 144 corticosterone-treated PC12 cells
- Figure 5.9 Effect of TGP on NGF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in 146 corticosterone-treated PC12 cells
- Figure 5.10 Effect of TGP on NT-3 protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in 148 corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

List of Tables

Table 1.1	The human dosage of TCAs and MAOIs	27
Table 1.2	The human dosage of SSRIs	30
Table 1.3	The human dosage of DMRIs	32
Table 2.1	Effect of TGP on the number of crossings and rearings in the	57
	open-field test in mice	
Table 2.2	Effect of TGP on the number of crossings and rearings in the	58
	open-field test in rats	
Table 3.1	Schedule of CUMS procedure	65

List of Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AVP	Arginine vasopressin
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion
CA	Cornu ammonis
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAT	Catalase
СНМ	Chinese herbal medicine
CRH	Corticotropin-releasing hormone
CUMS	Chronic unpredictable mild stress
DCFH-DA	2',7'-Dichlorofluorescin diacetate
DMRIs	Dual monoamine reuptake inhibitors
DG	Dentate gyrus
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
GSH	Reduced glutathione
HPA axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
IL-1	Interleukin-1
MAOIs	Monoamine oxidase inhibitors
MDA	Malondialdehyde

MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor
NaSSAs	Noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressants
NDRIs	Norepinephrine-dopamine reuptake inhibitors
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NRIs	Norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors
NT-3	Neurotrophin-3
NT-4	Neurotrophin-4
PC12 cell	Rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cell
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SNRIs	Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SSRIs	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
TCAs	Tricyclic antidepressants
TGP	Total glycosides of peony
Trk	Tyrosina protein kinasa

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Characteristics and prevalence of depression

Depression is a commonly-occurring, debilitating, and life-threatening psychiatric disorder. Depressive disorders are characterised by depressed mood and/or loss of interest or pleasure in nearly all activities in the presence of other symptoms such as loss of appetite, fatigue and lack of energy, sleep disturbance, restlessness or irritability, feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt, difficulty in thinking, concentrating or making decisions and thoughts of death or suicide or attempts at suicide (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual IV, 2000; Linde et al., 2003; Candy et al., 2008).

Large epidemiological studies showed that the prevalence of depression is growing, with an estimated 10–30% of the population of the world (Paykel, 2003; Blendy, 2006). The ratio of patients with depression in woman was about two to three times higher than that in men (Brommelhoff et al., 2004). Suicide is a major risk in depression, with about 41% of depressive patients had suicidal ideation and 15% of them committing suicide (Mueller and Leon, 1996). Affective disorders account for considerable psychiatric morbidity (pain and suffering), but also significant disability and consequent loss of productivity. The World Health Organization predicts that depression is now the fourth most prevalent cause of loss in human disability adjusted life years worldwide, and it will become the second by the year 2020 (Murray and Lopez, 1996).

1.2 Pathogenesis of depression

As to the psychological factors of depression, a huge body of evidence has suggested that depression arise from the complex interactions of multiple-susceptibility genes and environmental factors, which can be best conceptualized as genetic vulnerability that might be expressed in response to life events that are stressful to the vulnerable individual (Sullivan et al., 2000; Manji et al., 2001).

The pathophysiology of depression was not fully understood until the breakthrough in recent years. A serendipitous discovery of antidepressive drug showed that iproniazid enhanced monoamine transmitter function by inhibiting monoamine oxidase (Baumeister et al., 2003; Blendy, 2006; Slattery et al., 2004), while reserpine depleting monoamine transmitter would cause depression-like state (Baumeister et al., 2003). People thought

pathophysiology of depression involves dysfunction of monoamine that the neurotransmitter circuits in the central nervous system, particularly serotonin, norepinephrine and dopamine, which is called the monoaminergic hypothesis of depression (Owens, 2004). However, recent research on the pathophysiology of depression has revealed some serious gaps and limitations in the monoaminergic hypothesis. For example, drugs that target monoamines affect these neurotransmitter systems within hours of initial treatment, but antidepressant drugs exert their antidepressant action in patients after several weeks of daily treatment (Wong and Licinio, Still, the monoaminergic hypothesis does not address key issues such as the 2001). reason why antidepressants are also effective in other disorders, such as panic disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and bulimia, or why some of the drugs that enhance serotonergic or noradrenergic transmission (for example, amphetamine or cocaine) are not effective in alleviating depression (Lanni et al., 2009). Despite these limitations, it is clear that the development of the monoamine hypothesis is very important in understanding depression and in the development of effective antidepressive drugs (Lanni et al., 2009). More recently, with the advance of neuroscience, it has been suggested that the hippocampus may play an important role in the neurobiological basis of depressive syndromes.

1.2.1 The role of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of depression

The hippocampus is a major component of mammalian brain. It has recently received significant attention in mood disorders research due to its functions on the regulation of emotion and cognition. Caudal to and intimately connected with the amygdala, the hippocampus is a bilaminar grey-matter structure that forms the floor of the inferior temporal horn of the lateral ventricle and extends from the anterior margin of the ventricular horn to the splenium of the corpus callosum (Campbell and Macqueen, 2004). The hippocampus is composed of multiple subfields. Though terminology varies among authors, the terms most frequently used are the dentate gyrus (DG) and the hippocampus proper (cornu Ammonis, CA). The latter, when observed in coronal sections, can be mainly divided into three regions, termed CA1, CA2 and CA3, based on pyramidal neuron morphology (Campbell and Macqueen, 2004). The glutamatergic pyramidal and granule cells represent 90% of hippocampal neurons, and the remaining 10% are primarily γ -aminobutyric acid-producing interneurons (Campbell and Macqueen, 2004). Pyramidal and granule neurons in the hippocampus (especially in the CA3 region) have been showed to be vulnerable to psychosocial stress (McEwen, 2001), due to the hippocampus contains Several clinical and laboratory experiments have rich glucocorticoid receptors.

demonstrated that depression was closely associated with hippocampal neuronal atrophy and destruction, while chronic antidepressant treatment produced neuroprotective effect against hippocampal neuronal damage (Manji and Duman, 2001; Fuchs et al., 2004).

In clinical studies aimed to compare the volumetric differences in the hippocampus of patients suffering from depression with those in healthy controls, the results of multiple imaging analysis showed that the volume of hippocampus of these patients was significantly smaller than those of controls (Bremner et al., 2000; Colla et al., 2007; Frodl et al., 2007; Lange and Irle, 2004; MacQueen et al., 2003; Neumeister et al., 2005; Saylam et al., 2006). Additionally, MacQueen et al. (2003) and Saylam et al. (2006) have shown that the reduced volume of hippocampus in depression had a positive correlation with the reduced volume of hippocampus in depression had a positive correlation with executive dysfunction (Frodl et al., 2007), but not with patient's age (Sheline et al., 1999).

Lucassen et al. (2001) measured apoptosis in postmortem hippocampal tissues by using in situ DNA end-labeling. The results showed that the rate of apoptosis in the DG, CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus in depressive as well as in steroid-treated patients was slightly increased. Whether this small cell loss accounts for clinical consequences observed in depressive patients remains to be clarifed. In another postmortem study, Stockmeier and colleagues (2004) found that hippocampal sections from depressive patients shrank are more than that of control subjects after histologic processing. However, the packing density of hippocampal cells was significantly increased and pyramidal neuron soma size was significantly decreased in depressive subjects as compared to control subjects.

Animal studies have revealed similar results to the clinical trials and postmortem studies. Thus Fuchs's group (Czéh et al., 2001; van der Hart et al., 2002) reported that there was a significant decrease in the volume of hippocampus in chronic stress-treated tree shrews, which is an animal model with high validity for depression (Fuchs, 2005), as compared to non-stressed control. Chronic treatment with antidepressants (such as clomipramine and tianeptine) significant prevented chronic stress-induced alterations in the volume of hippocampus (Czéh et al., 2001; van der Hart et al., 2002). It has also been reported that chronic stress-induced depression model rats showed neuronal atrophy and destruction in the hippocampal CA3 region, as indicated by significant decreases in the number of pyramidal neurons and total dendritic length, while chronic antidepressant treatment protected hippocampus from damage induced by chronic stress (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Magariños et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2003; Takuma et al., 2007).

1.2.2 The mechanisms of hippocampal neuronal damage in depression

To date, the mechanisms of hippocampal neuronal damage in depression still remains to be uncovered. However, several lines of evidence have supported the involvement of hyperactivation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and extracellular glutamate accumulation, increased production of nitric oxide (NO), increased oxidative stress and decreased neurotrophins contents (Zhang, 2001; Drzyzga et al., 2009). These factors have also been demonstrated to be involved in the pathophysiology of depression (Zhang, 2001; Drzyzga et al., 2009).

1.2.2.1 Hyperactivation of the HPA axis

A prominent mechanism of hippocampal neuronal damage in depression is hyperactivation of the HPA axis, which is a complex set of direct influences and feedback interactions among the hypothalamus, the pituitary gland, and the adrenal gland. It has been shown

that normal activation of the HPA axis results in the production of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and arginine vasopressin (AVP) in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus (Sandi, 2004; Pariante and Lightman; 2006). Both peptides are released into the bloodstream. and they stimulate the production and secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary. ACTH then stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents) from the adrenal gland (Figure 1.1). The activity of the HPA axis is controlled by the hippocampus. There are two distinct intracellular receptor subtypes referred to as the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) and the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) in the hippocampus (Reul and de Kloet, 1985). Glucorticoids, by potently regulating these two hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors, exert powerful feedback effects on the HPA axis. Levels of glucocorticoids that are seen under normal physiological circumstances seem to enhance hippocampal inhibition of HPA activity and also enhance hippocampal function in general and thereby promote certain cognitive abilities (Nestler et al., 2002). However, sustained elevations of glucocorticoids induced by the hyperactivation of the HPA axis, seen in depressive disorders and prolonged and severe stress-treated animals (Pan et al., 2006; Aihara et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007b; Watson and Mackin, 2007), could decrease hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors expression and damage hippocampal neurons,

particularly the CA3 pyramidal neurons (Magariños and McEwen. 1995; Sapolsky, 2000; Murray et al., 2008). Regardless of the nature of the damage, it would be expected that a reduction in the inhibitory control on the HPA axis would further increase circulating glucocorticoid levels and subsequent hippocampal damage (Nestler et al., 2002).



Figure 1.1 Basal activity of the HPA axis (Watson and Mackin, 2007). Normal activation of the HPA axis results in the production of CRH in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. CRH is then released into the bloodstream, and stimulates the production and secretion of ACTH from the anterior pituitary. ACTH then stimulates the synthesis and release of glucocorticoids (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents) from the adrenal gland. Glucocorticoids also play a negative feedback effect on the hypothalamus to release of CRH and anterior pituitary to release of ACTH.

1.2.2.2 Extracellular glutamate accumulation

Glutamate, one of the major endogenous excitatory neurotransmitters in the nervous system, is synthesized from glutamine by the enzyme glutaminase (Figure 1.2). Two primary glutamate receptors have been pharmacologically classified as ionotropic (N-methyl-daspartate [NMDA], AMPA, and kainate receptors) and metabotropic (G-protein coupled receptors) (Gasic and Hollmann, 1992). A physiological level glutamate is necessary for many neurological functions, including cognition, memory, movement, and sensation (Gasic and Hollmann, 1992). However, in a variety of pathologic conditions, excessive concentration of extracellular glutamate would be released and accumulated which could eventually lead to neuronal injury or death (Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993; Obrenovitch, 1999). Interestingly, several studies have also demonstrated that overactivation of the glutamatergic system is involved in the pathogenesis of depression (Palucha and Pilc, 2002; Molina-Hernández et al., 2008; Hashimoto, 2009). It has been shown that plasma or seurm levels of glutamate in patients suffering from depression were significantly higher than those in a control group (Kim et al., 1982; Mauri et al., 1998; Mitani et al., 2006). Moreover, Mitani et al. (2006) reported that there was a positive correlation between plasma glutamate levels and severity

of depressive symptoms in depressive patients. Preclinical studies showed that high accumulation of glutamate can induce depression-like behaviours (Rada et al., 2003), while several glutamate antagonists produce antidepressant-like effects (Molina-Hernández et al., 2008). Brain gutamate level was significantly increased in a rat model of depression, and was normalized by treatment with antidepressant drugs (Hu et al., 2006).



Figure 1.2 Glutamate synthesis and excitotoxicity pathways (Hashimoto, 2009).
Glutamate is one of the principal excitatory neurotransmitters and synthesized from glutamine by the enzyme glutaminase. Glutamate and its ts interactions with specific neurocyte membrane receptors are responsible for many neurological functions. In a variety of pathologic conditions, excessive concentration of extracellular glutamate would overactivate the glutamate receptors, and then ncrease intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration.
High concentration of intracellular Ca²⁺ triggers a cascade of membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear events leading to neurotoxicity.

Glutamate excitotoxicity is thought to be a consequence of intracellular calcium ion (Ca^{2+}) -loading. Under normal physiological conditions, intracellular cytosolic free Ca^{2+} , regulated by plasma membrane Ca^{2+} transporters, is maintained at very low concentrations relative to free extracellular calcium (Luoni et al., 2000). However, overactivation of glutamate receptor stimulated by excessive glutamate increases intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration by directly opening ion channels and secondarily affecting Ca^{2+} homeostatic mechanisms (Mark et al., 2001) (Figure 1.2). High concentration of intracellular Ca^{2+} triggers a cascade of membrane, cytoplasmic, and nuclear events leading to neurotoxicity (Humar et al., 2009). Indeed, it has also been demonstrated that abnormal intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration is involved in the pathophysiology of stress-related behavior and depression (Zhong et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2009).

1.2.2.3 Increased production of nitric oxide (NO)

Nitric oxide (NO) was first identified in the 1980s as an endothelium-derived relaxing factor in the cardiovascular system (Zhang et al., 2005). Later studies suggested that NO plays an important role in the central nervous system under both physiologic and pathologic conditions (Law et al., 2001). NO is synthesized from l-arginine by nitric
oxide synthase (NOS) using NADPH and molecular oxygen. To date, three isoforms of NOS, neuronal NOS, endothelial NOS, and inducible NOS, have been identified (Paakkari and Lindsberg, 1995). A biphsic effect of NO has been observed. Low levels and very early synthesis of NO by endothelial NOS have a neuroprotective role, while high levels and more sustained production of NO by inducible NOS or neuronal NOS lead to a neurotoxic effect (Ca'rdenas et al., 2005). It has been reported that increased and sustained NO levels, seen in depressive disorders and prolonged and severe stress-treated animals (Suzuki et al., 2001; Fu et al., 2005; Qin et al., 2005; Li et al., 2007a), could lead to a consecutive formation of superoxide that react with NO to form peroxynitrite, which can further react with other compounds to produce more toxic peroxide products, and then cause DNA damage (Beckman and Koppenol, 1996; Hong et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2005). Moreover, NO and peroxynitrite-mediated DNA damage could induce overactivation of the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) pathway which is a key pathway leading to cell death (Yu et al., 2003) (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Model of NO-mediated excitotoxicity (Zhang et al., 2005). NO is synthesized from l-arginine by NOS using NADPH and molecular oxygen. In a variety of pathologic conditions, increased and sustained NO levels can lead to a consecutive formation of superoxide that react with NO to form peroxynitrite, which can further react with other compounds to produce more toxic peroxide products, and then cause DNA damage. Moreover, NO and peroxynitrite-mediated DNA damage could induce overactivation of the PARP-1 pathway which is a key pathway leading to cell death.

1.2.2.4 Increased oxidative stress

Under normal conditions, a dynamic balance exists between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the enzymatic and non-enzymatic anti-oxidant defense systems of the cell (Geier et al., 2009). ROS, mainly includes superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical, is produced when the cells generate energy by reducing molecular oxygen to water (Wakamatsu et al., 2008). However, endogenous antioxidant defense neutralizes the ROS within the cells (Figure 1.4). Superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione peroxidase are the primary enzymes involved in the elimination of ROS (Geier et al., 2009). SOD scavenges superoxide anion to more stable hydrogen peroxide. CAT and glutathione peroxidase are two of the most important scavengers of hydrogen peroxide which convert it into water (Griendling and Ushio-Fukai, 2000). Additionally, glutathione (GSH), the most abundant endogenous antioxidant, is also involved in the antioxidant defense system (Mueller et al., 2001). Oxidative stress occurs when ROS levels exceed the antioxidant capacity of a cell in a variety of pathologic conditions. Excessive ROS are highly toxic and react with lipids, proteins and nucleic acids, and lead to cell death (Niebrój-Dobosz et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2008) (Figure 1.4).

The brain and nervous system are particularly vulnerable to oxidative stress because of their limited antioxidant capacity, high oxygen utilization and the high content of unsaturated fatty acids (that are more liable to peroxidation) (Geier et al., 2009). The brain makes up about 2% of body mass but consumes 20% of metabolic oxygen. The vast majority of energy is used by the neurons (Geier et al., 2009; Ribeiro et al., 2009). Interestingly, several studies have also shown that there was a significant increase in the oxidative stress in depression (Lukash et al., 2002; Lucca et al., 2009), suggesting that

increased hippocampal oxidative stress may contribute to hippocampal neuronal death in

depression.



Figure 1.4 An balance between the production of ROS and anti-oxidant defense systems in cells (Wakamatsu et al., 2008). Cells generate energy by reducing molecular oxygen to water. During this process, ROS may be produced as an unavoidable by-product of mitochondrial respiration and can cause cell injury. The toxic effect of ROS can be eliminated by antioxidative enzymes such as SOD, catalase and GSH peroxidase, and antioxidants such as GSH.

1.2.2.5 Decreased neurotrophins contents

Four neurotrophins have been characterized in mammals, reptiles, and amphibians: nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4, NT-4/5) (Huang et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2003). Neurotrophins exert their function by interacting with the high-affinity tyrosine protein kinase (Trk) receptors (TrkA, TrkB and TrkC). Each of these neurotrophins specifically binds to its cognate Trk receptor. NGF binds to TrkA, while BDNF and NT-4 interact with TrkB. Besides, NT-3 primarily binds to TrkC though it can also interact with TrkA or TrkB. In addition, all neurotrophins can bind with the low-affinity p75 neurotrophin receptor that may be important in enhancing the specificity of the Trk receptors (Abe, 2001; Chan et al., 2003) (Figure 1.5). The biological effects of neurotrophins are mediated either by Trk receptor signalling alone or by the co-activation of Trk and low-affinity p75 neurotrophin receptors, leading to the activation of different types of protein kinases and a cascade of intracellular events (Huang et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2003), which eventually induce the development, survival, plasticity, and differentiation of neurons (Huang et al., 2001; Blum and Konnerth, 2005). On the other hand, several recent studies have demonstrated that decreased neurotrophins contents are involved in the

pathophysiology of stress-related behavior and depression (Nestler et al., 2002; Angelucci et al., 2003; von Richthofen et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2004a; Dwivedi et al., 2005; Huston et al., 2009), and the reversal of this deficiency during antidepressant treatments may contribute to the improvement of depressive symptoms (Hellweg 2002; Angelucci et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007b; Song et al., 2009), which is known as the neurotrophic hypothesis of depression (Nestler et al., 2002). These data strongly suggest the importance of neurotrophins in hippocampal neuronal damage in depression.



Figure 1.5 Different receptor types of neurotrophins (Gilbert SF, 2006). Each of neurotrophins specifically binds to its cognate Trk receptor. NGF binds to TrkA, while BDNF and NT-4 interact with TrkB. Besides, NT-3 primarily binds to TrkC though it can also interact with TrkA or TrkB. In addition, all neurotrophins can bind with the low-affinity p75 neurotrophin receptor that may be important in enhancing the specificity of the Trk receptors

1.3 Stress induced animal models of depression

Animal model research has an important contribution to understand the pathological mechanisms of human psychiatric disorders. It is well known that animal models of depression can provide crucial information on the whole range of function which is not accessible in humans and potentially allow us to identify novel targets for antidepressant drug development. The problem in all animal models is to define the clear criteria that allow the validity of the model to be ascertained. According to Geyer and Markou (1995), four main criteria need to be considered in order to determine the validity of animal models of behavioural disorders: (1) face validity: the phenomenological similarity between the behaviour exhibited by the animal model and the specific symptoms of the human condition; (2) etiological validity: this concept of etiological validity is closely related to the causes of the disorder in humans.; (3) predictive validity: the ability to predict changes in the human subject based upon changes in the model and (4) construct validity: construct validity is closely related to the pathology and symptomatology of the disorder, and the accuracy with which changes in the model organism reflects that in the human.

Over the course of the last 50 years, there are over 20 depressive animal models, such as neurochemical models, natural genetic models, olfactory bulbectomy model, operant response models, stress models and so on (Jesberger and Richardson, 1984; Bourin et al., 2000; McArthur and Borsini, 2006). Among these models of depression, stress is mostly used to induce depression (Willner, 1997 and 2005) because stress is a crucial psychological factor involved in the onset and relapse of depression (Bidzinska, 1984; Sheline, 2000; Lee et al., 2002). The learned helplessness model, the behavioral despair model and the chronic unpredictable mild stress model are three of them that have been extensively studied.

1.3.1 Learned helplessness model

The learned helplessness model was proposed by Seligman and colleagues (Overmier and Seligman, 1967; Seligman and Beagly, 1975; Seligman et al., 1975; Maier and Seligman, 1976) during the 1960–1970s. A presumed state of depression is induced in animals by exposing them to aversive stimuli like shock under circumstances in which they cannot control or predict the onset or duration of the stimuli. This procedure results in long-lasting deficits in the motivation and ability to escape in subsequent trials where

escape is possible, and show behavioural alterations such as vocalizations and passivity (Overmier and Seligman, 1967; Seligman and Beagly, 1975; Seligman et al., 1975; Ferguson et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2002); as well as alterations in sleep-wake patterns (Adrien et al., 1991). Pharmacological treatment with antidepressants reversed these behavioural changes (Ferguson et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2002).

1.3.2 Behavioral despair model

Behavioral despair model was proposed as a simpler variation of the learned helplessness model. So far, the behavioral despair model includes the forced swim test (Porsolt et al., 1977) and the tail suspension test (Steru et al., 1985), and has been the most widely used test to screen novel antidepressant compounds. In the forced swim test (Porsolt et al., 1977; Li et al., 2003), a mouse or rat is placed in a cylinder (diameter: 14 and 21 cm for mice and rats, respectively) containing water (10 cm and 25 cm in height for mice and rats, respectively), maintained at 25 ± 1 °C. After a period of time, the animal becomes immobile, or floats passively (Porsolt et al., 1977). For tail suspension test, a mouse is suspended by the tail approximately 5 cm above the floor. The subject immediately engages in struggling or escape-like behaviors, which gradually abates to immobility (Steru et al, 1985). The behavioral phenomena observed in both forced swim and tail suspension test apear to be resulted from the exposure to inescapable aversive situations, and an animal alternates between periods of vigorous activity (searching behavior) and immobility (waiting behavior) (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). Multiple classes of antidepressant drugs have been shown to decrease immobility in the forced swim and tail suspension tests following acute or subchronic treatment (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985).

While in some reports, the specificity of behavioral despair model for antidepressants has been questioned because a large number of non-antidepressive drugs also reduce immobility. False positive results have been reported for agents that stimulate locomotor activity (Porsolt et al., 1978 and 1981). On the other hand, it has been reported that the effects of stimulants such as caffeine or amphetamine can be excluded by the open field test, in which these agents show marked increase in locomotor activity (Porsolt et al., 1978). The open field test was first described by Hall (1934) in the study of emotionality in rats. Until now, the open field test has been one of the most popular procedures for studying animal psychology (Calabrese, 2008). Therefore, the combined use of behavioral despair test and open field test is a reliable method for screening potential antidepressants, and this has been confirmed in a number of recent studies (Mora et al., 2006; Kaster et al., 2007; Binfaré et al., 2009; Carbajal et al., 2009).

1.3.2 Chronic unpredictable mild stress model

Humans are more likely to be subjected to periods of stress during their lifetime. Some people are less resilient to these stresses, and can be vulnerable to mild but prolonged stress (Kessler, 1997; Hammen, 2005; McArthur and Borsini, 2006). Therefore, a stress model of depression seeking to simulate this environmental condition was initially proposed and developed by Katz and his colleagues (Katz and Schmaltz, 1980 and Katz et al., 1981) who treated rats to various harsh stressors, such as electrical shock, immersion in cold water, reversal of light/dark cycle, fast, isolation, tail pinch, being shaken, moved from cage to cage over a period of 3 weeks. Some animals exposed to this regime may die and the survived animals show signs of locomotor inhibition and depression (Katz and Schmaltz, 1980 and Katz et al., 1981).

The chronic stress model was further improved by Willner et al. (1984) whereby rodents are subjected to similar but milder and longer (5-10 weeks) stressors than those used by

Katz, and this model is known as chronic unpredictable mild stress model. Following such exposure, animals have been reported to exhibit anhedonia-like behaviour, as indicated by a reduction in responsiveness to pleasurable stimuli, measured by a decrease in their consumption of 1% or 2% sucrose solution or a decrease in their preference for sucrose over water (Willner, 1997 and 2005). In addition, a number of behavioural and physiological changes have been reported, including decreased sexual behaviour, decreased aggression, decreased body weight, alterations in locomotor activity, adrenal hypertrophy, corticosterone hypersecretion and decreased REM sleep (D'Aquila et al., 1994; Papp et al., 1994; Norman and McGrath, 2000). These behavioural symptoms induced by chronic unpredictable mild stress are often observed in patients suffering from major depression and can be reversed by chronic treatment with antidepressants, indicating the model has good predictive validity (D'Aquila et al., 1994; Papp et al., 1994; Li et al., 2007b; Zhao et al., 2008). In fact, chronic unpredictable mild stress model of depression has been generally accepted as the most promising and valuable depressive model in animals (Willner, 1997 and 2005).

1.4 Drugs for treating depression

Prior to the late 1950s, depression was treated primarily with electroconvulsive therapy and psychotherapy. The advent of effective antidepressants changed this situation and drug therapy has become the main modality for treating depression (Hollister, 1978). The number of drugs available for treating depression has been growing rapidly during the past 60 years. Several types of antidepressant medications were identified according to their different mechanism of action: tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs), selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (NRIs), dual monoamine reuptake inhibitors (DMRIs) including serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) and norepinephrine-dopamine reuptake inhibitors (NDRIs), noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressants (NaSSAs), and herbal medicines.

1.4.1 TCAs

TCAs are one of the oldest classes of antidepressant drugs. Since the early 1960s, TCAs represented the major pharmacological treatment for depression (Pacher and Kecskemeti,

2004). They work by blocking the reuptake of serotonin and norepinephrine and producing long-term increases in sensitivity in these receptors. They also produce a range of potentially serious side effects including drowsiness, dry mouth, constipation, urinary retention, blurred vision, dizziness, confusion, and sexual dysfunction (Steffens et al., 1997; Kyle et al., 1998; Roose et al., 1998). However, TCAs are still used in clinic because of their effectiveness, especially in severe cases of major depression (Anderson, 1998; Barbui et al., 2004). TCAs mainly include amitriptyline, clomipramine, desipramine, doxepin, imipramine, nortriptyline, protriptyline and trimipramine in the pharmaceutical market (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004; Woolf et al., 2007). The human dosage of various TCAs are shown in Table 1.1.

Antidepressants	Name	Molecular Formula	Human dosage (mg/d)
TCAs	Amitriptyline	$C_{20}H_{23}N$	50-250
	Clomipramine	$C_{19}H_{23}ClN_2$	100-200
	Doxepin	$C_{19}H_{21}NO$	50-200
	Desipramine	$C_{18}H_{22}N_2$	75-150
	Imipramine	$C_{19}H_{24}N_2$	100-300
	Nortriptyline	$C_{19}H_{21}N$	30-75
	Protriptyline	$C_{19}H_{21}N$	15-60
	Trimipramine	$C_{20}H_{26}N_2$	75-300
MAOIs	Dextroamphetamine	$C_9H_{13}N$	10-60
	Isocarboxazide	$C_{12}H_{13}N_3O_2$	20-50
	Phenelzine	$C_8H_{12}N_2$	15-75
	Tranylcypromine	$C_9H_{11}N$	10-30
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Moclobemide	C ₁₃ H ₁₇ ClN ₂ O ₂	300-600

Table 1.1 The human dosage of TCAs and MAOIs (Hollister, 1978; Tong and Tong, 2009)

1.4.2 MAOIs

MAOIs are also one of the oldest classes of antidepressant drugs. The "first-generation" MAOIs include dextroamphetamine, isocarboxazide, phenelzine mainly and tranylcypromine in the pharmaceutical market (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). They work by irreversibly blocking the action of monoamine oxidase enzyme, which breaks down the neurotransmitters dopamine, serotonin and norepinephrine. It has been shown that "first-generation" MAOIs are more effective than TCAs for atypical depression, as well as in persons who do not respond to other type antidepressants (McGrath et al., 1993; Stewart et al., 1997). However, because of the potential risk of life-threatening drug-food interactions (Beavis, 1998) and a higher incidence of dangerous side effects (Taavitsainen et al., 2001; Salsali et al., 2004), they are used only for patients who are refractory to other medications (Zetin et al., 2006). Moclobemide, a reversible inhibitor of monoamine oxidase type-A, is the "second-generation" MAOIs. It has been reported that moclobemide did not require dietary restrictions and have fewer adverse effects than traditional irreversible MAOIs (Yamada and Yasuhara, 2004). The human dosage of various MAOIs are shown in Table 1.1.

1.4.3 SSRIs

SSRIs are a family of antidepressants which are considered as the current standard of drug treatment for all forms of depression (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). They work by preventing the reuptake of serotonin by the presynaptic neuron, thus maintaining higher levels of serotonin in the synapse. Five main SSRIs are now available in the pharmaceutical market: citalopram, fluoxetine (the first SSRIs occurred in 1988), fluvoxamine, paroxetine and sertraline (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). These drugs are approximately as effective as TCAs, although some evidence suggested that TCAs might be more effective than SSRIs for severe depression (Anderson, 1998 and 2000; Barbui et al., 2004). It has also been shown that SSRIs had a much more benign and tolerated side effect profile than TCAs and, largely for this reason, have replaced TCAs as the first line therapy for depression (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). However, the major problem of SSRIs is sexual dysfunction (Rosen et al., 1999). The human dosage of various SSRIs are shown in Table 1.2.

Name	Molecular Formula	Human dosage (mg/d)	
Citalopram	C ₂₀ H ₂₁ FN ₂ O	20-60	
Fluoxetine	C ₁₇ H ₁₈ F ₃ NO	C ₁₇ H ₁₈ F ₃ NO 20-60	
Fluvoxamine	$C_{15}H_{21}F_{3}N_{2}O_{2}$	50-300	
Paroxetine	$C_9H_{11}N$	10-30	
Sertraline	$C_{17}H_{17}Cl_2N$	50-200	

Table 1.2 The human dosage of SSRIs (Koenig amd Thase, 2009; Tong and Tong, 2009)

1.4.4 NRIs

NRIs represent a class of antidepressant drugs that inhibit the reuptake of norepinephrine by the presynaptic neuron, thus maintaining higher levels of norepinephrine in the synapse. These drugs have been shown to be approximately equivalent to TCAs and SSRIs in efficacy (Scates and Doraiswamy, 2000; Hajós et al., 2004; Papakostas et al., 2008). NRIs have a much more benign and tolerated side effect profile than TCAs (Hajós et al., 2004), while they produce more distinct adverse side effect profile than SSRIs, showing urinary and cardiovascular side effects of greater concern (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). Reboxetine ($C_{19}H_{23}NO_3$) is probably the most used NRIs in the pharmaceutical market. Doses are usually 4-10 mg/d in human (Tong and Tong, 2009).

1.4.5 DMRIs

DMRIs are a newer form of antidepressants that work by preventing the reuptake of two monoamines by the presynaptic neuron. There are two classes of dual monaoamine reuptake inhibitors: serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) and norepinephrine-dopamine reuptake inhibitors (NDRIs). SNRIs affect norepinephrine and serotonin, while NDRIs affect dopamine and norepinephrine. It has been hypothesized that dual reuptake inhibitors might have faster onset of action or are more efficactive than single monoamine reuptake inhibitors (Thase et al., 2001; Thompson, 2002), and the results were confirmed in a clinical study (Thase et al., 2001). Dual monaoamine reuptake inhibitors have more side effects (drowsiness, headache, nausea, changes in appetite, vivid dreams, and sexual malfunction) than SSRIs because they work with two monaoamines (Isaac, 2008). Five main DMRIs are now available in the pharmaceutical market: duloxetine, milnacipran, trazodone and venlafaxine (SNRIs) and bupropion (NDRIs) (Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004). The human dosage of various DMRIs are shown in Table 1.3.

MDRIs	Name	Molecular Formula	Human dosage (mg/d)
SNRIs	Duloxetine	C ₁₈ H ₁₉ NOS	30-60
	Milnacipran	$C_{15}H_{22}N_2O$	50-100
	Trazodone	$C_{19}H_{22}CIN_5O$	50-300
	Venlafaxine	C ₁₇ H ₂₇ NO ₂	75-375
NDRIs	Bupropion	C ₁₃ H ₁₈ ClNO	150-300

Table 1.3 The human dosage of DMRIs (Koenig amd Thase, 2009; Tong and Tong, 2009)

1.4.6 NaSSAs

NaSSAs are a new class of antidepressants. They have been proposed to act by noradrenergic autoreceptor and heteroreceptor antagonism combined with specific serotonergic antagonism. This results in increases in both noradrenergic and specific serotonergic transmission. Many clinicians consider NaSSAs as a second-line or even third-line antidepressant, they are used only when other antidepressants are tolerated or ineffective (Hartmann, 1999). NaSSAs are said to have fewer side effects than TCAs and SSRIs but they still carry side effects such as weight gain, drowsiness, and increased appetite (Kent, 2000; Schweitzer et al., 2009). Mirtazapine (C₁₇H₁₉N₃) is probably the most popular NaSSAs in the pharmaceutical market (Schweitzer et al., 2009). Doses are usually 15-45 mg/d for human (Tong and Tong, 2009).

1.4.7 Herbal medicines

The use of herbal drugs, which are expected to show fewer side-effects, has been gaining wide popularity in the world. St. John's wort (Hypericum perforatum) is a herbal medicine that has been traditionally used to treat a variety of health conditions such as nerve pain, malaria, viral, and bacterial infection (National Committee of Chinese Pharmacopoeia, 2005). A number of controlled clinical studies showed that the standard extract of St. John's wort (trade name: neurostan, contains 3% hypericin content) can be used to treat mild and moderate depression, with a favourable side-effect profile (Stevinson and Ernst, 1999; Nangia et al., 2000; Bilia et al., 2002; Linde et al., 2003; Rodriguez-Landa and Contreras, 2003). However, St. John's wort is less effective than other standard antidepressants in severe depression (Hypericum Depression Trial Study The mechanisms by which St. John's wort exerts its antidepressive effects Group, 2002). remain to be elucidated because of its complexity in the chemical profile of biologically active compounds (Nahrstedt and Butterweck, 1997). Doses are usually 300-1800 mg/d in human.

On the other hand, Chinese herbal medicine (CHM) has been used to treat psychiatric disorders in China. Xiaoyao-San (Tai Ping Hui Ming He Ji Ju Fang) is a CHM formula consist of eight components herbs, namely, Chai hu (Radix Bupleuri Chinensis), Dang gui (Radix Angelica), Bao shao (Radix Paeoniae Alba), Bai zhu (Rhizoma Atractylodis Macrocephalae), Fu ling (Rhizoma Smilacis), Sheng jiang (Rhizoma Zingiberis Recens), Bo he (Herba Menthae) and Gan cao (Radix Glycyrrhizae). A clinical study showed that Xiaoyao-San was effective against depressive neurosis (Zhang et al., 1998). Danzhi Xiaoyao-San is modified from the Xiaoyao-San; it has the addition of Dan zhi (Cortex Moutan) and Zhi zi (Fructus Gardeniae). Danzhi Xiaoyao-San has been demonstrated to have no statistical difference with reference antidepressant (maprotiline), with both being highly effective in treating depression (Luo et al., 2006). Another example of CHM formula useful for relieving depressive-like symptoms in the clinic is Jiawei Sini-San (Xie and Wang, 2005). The formula is composed of five herbs, namely, Chai hu (Radix Bupleuri Chinensis), Bao shao (Radix Paeoniae Alba), Gan cao (Radix Glycyrrhizae), Zhi shi (Fructus aurantii Immaturus) and Gui zhi (Ramulus Cinnamomi).

1.5 Pharmacological activities of total glycosides of peony (TGP)

The root of *Paeonia lactiflora* Pall. (Family: Ranunculaceae), commonly known as peony, is a well-known herbal medicine used in China, Korea and Japan for thousands of years. Total glycosides of peony (TGP) is the biologically active ingredients of peony. As reported by Zhang and Li (2002), Wang et al. (2005a) and Xu et al. (2007), TGP contained a series of glycosides including albiflorin, benzoylpeoniflorin, benzoyloxypaeoniflorin, hydroxypeoniflorin, oxypaeoniflorin, xoybenzoylpaeoniflorin and peoniflorin, etc. Peoniflorin and albiflorin (Figure 1.6), account for more than 75% of the active ingredients of TGP (Wang et al., 2005b). A number of recent investigations have demonstrated that TGP possesses anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, anti-oxidant, hepatoprotective, neuroprotective, renoprotective properties.



Figure 1.6 The chemical structure of paeoniflorin and albiflorin.

1.5.1 Anti-cancer effects

More and more attentions are paid in the search of antitumor drugs to prevent and cure cancer. A clinical study showed that the combined use of TGP and chemotherapy remedy in treating non-small cell lung carcinoma produced better results than chemotherapy treatment alone (Zhan et al., 2006), suggesting an adjuvant role of TGP in cancer treatment. *In vitro* studies have focused on the effects of TGP on hepatic cancer. It has been reported that TGP had inhibitory effects on the proliferation of SMMC-27721 cell line (a human hepatoblastoma cell line) in a concentration-dependent manner. This effect was associated with the apoptotic effect of TGP (Wang et al., 2006a). Results from Wang et al. (2006B) showed that TGP concentration-dependently inhibited the proliferation of HepG₂ cells (a human hepatoblastoma cell line) by inducing apoptosis.

1.5.2 Anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects

TGP has been shown to process anti-inflammatory effects in acute, subacute and chronic animal models of inflammation, such as dimethylbenzene-induced ear edema in mice, carrageenan-induced paw swelling in rats and tampon-induced granuloma (Gao et al.,

The mechanisms underlying the anti-inflammatory effects of TGP might be 2002). related to the inhibition of leukotriene activity, interleukin-1 (IL-1) activity, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) content, iNOS and NO content (Li et al., 1994; Zhou and Li, 2003; Chen et al., 2008). Gao et al. (2002) also studied the analgesic effects of TGP by using writhing test. The results showed that TGP treatment markly reduced the writing frequency induced by acetic acid in mice. Wang et al. (1988) also found that TGP treatment significantly elevated the pain threshold in the hot-plate test in mice, suggesting the analgesic effects of Rheumatoid arthritis is an inflammatory joint disease. TGP has been approved by TGP. State Food and Drug Administration of China as a drug for treating rheumatoid arthritis. Several studies reported that TGP exerted anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects in the rat model of complete Freund's adjuvant-induced adjuvant arthritis, collagen-induced arthritis and carrageenan-induced arthritis (Wang et al., 1996; Xu et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2009), which is mediated by regulating the level cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and the Bcl-2/Bax ratio, and inhibiting the production of pro-inflammatory mediators and PGE₂ from activated synoviocytes (Jia et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2009).

1.5.3 Antioxidant activities

Gao et al. (1996) reported the antioxidant properties of TGP in some in vitro models of The results showed that the half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}) oxidative stress. of TGP on scavenging O₂ was 2.6 mg/L; the IC₅₀ of TGP on scavenging OH was 117.9 mg/L; the IC₅₀ of TGP on inhibiting oxidative hemolysis induced by hydrogen peroxide was 1.4 mg/L. Effects of TGP on oxidative status under pathological conditions in animals have also been extensively investigated. TGP protected against carbon tetrachloride-induced acute hepatic injury, tripterygium glycosides tablet-induced acute hepatic injury, Bacillus Calmette-Guérin plus lipopolysaccharide-induced immunological hepatic injury and human albumin-induced hepatic fibrosis in animals. The antioxidant effet was attributed to the enhancement of the activities of hepatic antioxidative enzymes and the inhibition of hepatic lipid peroxidation (Wang et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2005a; Zhan et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2007b). It has been demonstrated that TGP exerted beneficial effects in chronic hyperlipidemic rabbits by the inhibition of hepatic lipid peroxidation (Dong et al., 2003). Fang et al. (2008) reported that TGP could produce renoprotective effects on experimental diabetic rats via the enhancement in the activities of antioxidative enzymes in kidney. Yang et al. (2001) showed that TGP could improve the

learning and memory capacity in senile mice, which was mediated by the inhibition of oxidative stress in brain. Moreover, findings in recent studies revealed that the protection of TGP against local cerebral ischemia injury and complete cerebral ischemia reperfusion injury in rats were associated with the enhancement of brain antioxidant status (Wu and Zhu, 2001; Liu et al., 2004). TGP could also reverse the changes in serum antioxidant status in rats exposed to mental stress (Zhou and Hu, 2007).

1.5.4 Hepatoprotective effects

In China, peony roots have been widely used to improve the liver function of patients with hepatitis and cirrhosis. In recent years, several studies have demonstrated that TGP produced hepatoprotective effects in animal models of hepatic injury. Wang et al. (2004) reported that TGP treatment significantly reversed the changes of serum transaminases (alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase) levels in mice exposed to Bacillus Calmette-Guérin and lipopolysaccharide. The mechanisms underlying the protective effects of TGP on Bacillus Calmette-Guérin and lipopolysaccharide-induced immunological hepatic injury might be related to the inhibition of hepatic oxidative stress and the production of pro-inflammatory mediators and NO. Zhan et al. (2006) showed that treatment with TGP significantly decreased serum transaminases levels, and attenuated the area and extent of necrosis and reduced the infiltration of inflammatory cells in liver in carbon tetrachloride-treated mice, which might be mainly attributed to the enhancement in the activities of hepatic antioxidative enzymes and the inhibition of hepatic lipid peroxidation. Zhou et al. (2007b) also showed that TGP treatment significantly decreased serum transaminases levels in tripterygium glycosides tablet-treated mice via the inhibition of oxidative stress. Moreover, Wang et al. (2005a) reported that TGP treatment improved human albumin-induced alterations in the liver structure, alleviated lobular necrosis and significantly lowered collagen content in rats. The antifibrotic effect of TGP was mediated by the inhibition of hepatic oxidative stress and serum NO level.

1.5.5 Effects on central nervous system

Neuropharmacology of TGP has attracted much interest in the last few decades. It was shown that TGP treatment significantly inhibited the locomotor activity in mice, suggesting that TGP produced sedative effects (Wang et al., 1986). Zhang et al. (1993) reported that TGP had regulatory effects on sleep rhythm, as TGP treatment significantly

enhanced the episode duration of slow-wave sleep in normal rats, and restored the sleep parameters in insomniac rats induced by caffeine. Zhang et al. (1994) have studied the anticonvulsant action of TGP. The results showed that TGP had a dose-dependent protective effect against maximal electroshock seizure in mice and also had an antagonistic effect on strychinine-induced convulsion in both mice and rats, but it did not affect metrazol minimal threshold seizure in mice. A recent study has demonstrated that TGP could increase both learning and short-term memory ability in mice and also improved the impairments of learning and memory acquisition in scopolamine-treated mice (Ming et al., 1993). Yang et al. (2001) also showed that TGP could improve the learning and memory capacity in senile mice induced by D-galactose by using shuttle and water maze tests, which was mediated by the inhibition of oxidative stress and total monoamine oxidases activities, and increasing cholinesterase content in brain. Moreover, TGP has been shown to produce protective effect against acute cerebral ischemia in both mice and rats (Liu et The same research group (Liu et al., 2004) further studied the protective effect al., 2001). of TGP on cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. The results showed that TGP treatment markedly reduced the change of eye colour and possessed inhibitory effects on the histopathological changes of ischemia cerebral tissues, which was mediated by the inhibition of oxidative stress in brain. He et al. (2000a and 2000b) studied the

neuroprotective effect of TGP *in vitro* model of ischemia. TGP has been shown to protect against neurotoxicity in cultured primary cortex neurons induced by hypoxia, hypoglucose, potassium chloride, NO or excitatory amino acid (He et al., 2000b). TGP also produced neuroprotective effect against potassium chloride and excitatory amino acid induced cell death in PC12 cells by decreasing intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration (He et al., 2000a).

1.5.6 Renoprotective effects

TGP against gastrointestinal comprehensive has been shown to protect immunization-induced renal injury in rats, as indicated by the significant decreases in the levels of blood creatinine and urea nitrogen, and the reversal of glomerular histopathological changes (Zhou et al., 2006). On the other hand, Wu et al. (2009) reported that streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats showed a significant increase in the rate of 24-h urinary albumin excretion and the degree of tubulointerstitial injury, while TGP treatment significantly reversed these changes, suggesting that TGP produced renoprotective effects against experimental diabetes. The mechanisms underlying the renoprotective effects of TGP on experimental diabetes might be related to the inhibition of oxidative stress, and decreased protein expressions of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor $-\alpha$, and 3-nitrotyrosine in kidney (Fang et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2009).

1.5.7 Other pharmacological effects

It has been reported that TGP significantly reversed the decrease in hemolysin level and of delayed type of hypersensitivity reaction strengthened the intensity in cyclophosphamide-treated mice, but also inhibited the increased intensity of delayed type of hypersensitivity reaction induced by cyclophosphamide, suggesting that TGP had bidirectional effects on immunological modulation (Zhang et al., 1990). TGP also produced bidirectional immunological regulating effects on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in rats (Zhou et al., 1994). Yang et al. (2002) reported that TGP could produce regulating effects on the motility of colon of Guinea pig in vitro via increasing the expression of substance P. Moreover, TGP has also been shown to possess anti-diabetic effects in rats (Wu et al., 2009), anti-thrombotic effects in rats (Yang et al., 2006), hypothermic effects in rats (Wang et al., 1986), protective effects on acute myocardial ischemia in dogs (Wang et al., 2006c) and regulating effects on chronic hyperlipidemic rabbits (Dong et al., 2003).

1.6 Objectives of this study

Although antidepressant drugs, which target at the monoaminergic systems, are widely available in the pharmaceutical market, they produce remission in 30% of patients (McNally et al., 2008) and often exert adverse side-effects. Therefore, it is desirable to seek antidepressants in naturally-occurring herbs; such materials are expected to show fewer side-effects. The root of Paeonia lactiflora Pall. (Family: Ranunculaceae), commonly known as peony, is one of the most commonly used medicinal herbs in China, Korea and Japan. On a preliminary study in our laboratory, the antidepressant-like effect of peony extract was investigated. The results showed that intragastric administration of peony extract at the doses of 250 and 500 mg/kg for seven days significantly reduced the duration of immobility in both forced swim test and tail suspension test, with did not affect locomotor activity in the open-field test (Mao, et al. 2008). TGP is generally regarded as the biologically active components of peony. However, it remains unknown whether TGP is the active principle responsible for antidepressive effects of peony. Therefore, in order to provide preclinical data for further development into a therapeutic agent, this

study aims to

- investigate the antidepressant-like effects of TGP on behavioural despair model and chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS)-induced model;
- 2. explore the mechanisms underlying the antidepressive action of TGP.

The first step of this study is to study the antidepressant-like effects of TGP by using behavioral despair tests, forced swim and tail suspension tests (Chapter 2). Then the action of TGP is further confirmed by a rat model of depression induced by CUMS and the behavioral changes were measured by sucrose preference, open-field and forced swim tests (Chapter 3). The third step is to investigate the antidepressive and neuroprotective mechanisms of TGP in CUMS-treated rats (Chapter 4). Finally, the neuroprotective effects of TGP against corticosterone-induced neurotoxicity in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells, an *in vitro* experimental model of depression, and its possible mechanisms is investigated (Chapter 5).

Chapter 2

Antidepressant-like effects of total glycosides of peony in the forced swim test and tail suspension test

2.1 Introduction

The root of Paeonia lactiflora Pall. (Family: Ranunculaceae), commonly known as peony, is one of the most commonly used medicinal herbs in China, Korea and Japan. It is contained in a number of traditional formulae (for example, Jiawei Sinisan and Xiaoyao-San) for the treatment of depression-like disorders (Zhang et al., 1998; Xie and Wang, 2005). A preliminary study in our laboratory demonstrated that an ethanol extract of peony displayed antidepressive effects in mouse models of depression (Mao, et al. 2008). Glycosides such as paeoniflorin and albiflorin are known to be the biologically active ingredients of peony, and its total glycosides have been shown to possess analgesic, anti-cancer, anti-diabetic, anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant, anti-thrombotic, hepatoprotective, immunomodulatory, neuroprotective, renoprotective effects and so on (Zhang et al., 1990; Zhou et al., 1994; Liu et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2005a; Chang et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009). However, information regarding the antidepressant activity of total glycosides of peony (TGP) is lacking.

The forced swim test and tail suspension test are the widely used animal models of depression for screening antidepressant activity (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). This is largely due to their ease of use, reliability across laboratories, and ability to detect a broad spectrum of antidepressants (Liang et al., 2008). Therefore, the present study aims to evaluate the antidepressant-like effects of TGP by using the forced swim test and tail suspension test in mice and rats.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Drugs and chemical reagents

The total glycosides of peony (TGP, a light yellow-to-brown powder, purity = 55%) was supplied by Ningbo Liwah Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Zhejiang, China). TGP was analyzed by high-performance liquid chromatography as previously described (Department of Health, Hong Kong SAR, 2008) and standardized to contain 30% (w/w) of paeoniflorin and 10% (w/w) of albiflorin (Figue 2.1). HPLC analytical conditions were as follows: a Waters Nova-Pak C18 HPLC column (4.6 x 250 mm) was used for the separation. The mobile phase consisted of water (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B). Separation was achieved by a linear gradient elution from 0% to 20% solvent B over 60 min at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The eluate was monitored by a diode array detector at wavelength of 230.8 nm. A voucher sample (TGP071024) has been deposited in the School of Chinese Medicine, the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Clomipramine, purchased from Beijing Novartis Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China), was used as positive control. All other reagents and solvents used in the study were of analytical grade.



Figure 2.1 High-performance liquid chromatography of TGP.
Male ICR mice weighing 20-25 g and male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 200-220 g were obtained from the Laboratory Animal Services Center, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. Animals were maintained on a 12-hour light/dark cycle under regulated temperature (22 ± 2 °C) and humidity (50 ± 10 %) and fed with standard diet and water *ad libitum*. They were allowed to acclimatize for 3 days before use for experiments. The experiments on animals have been approved by the Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and conformed to the guidelines of the "Principles of Laboratory Animal Care" (NIH publication No.80-23, revised 1996). Effort was made to minimize the number and suffering of the animals.

2.2.3. Drug administration

TGP and clomipramine were dissolved in physiological saline. All dosages were expressed as milligrams per kilogram body weight of the respective drugs. Mice or rats (n=10/group) were treated intragastrically with physiological saline, TGP (40, 80 and 160 mg/kg) and reference compounds (clomipramine 20 mg/kg) in a volume of 10 ml/kg once

daily at 9:30 to 10:30 a.m for seven days. In the clinical practice, TGP is usually prescribed at a daily dose of 480 mg. When this human dose was converted into an animal dose (a person of 60 kg, and a conversion factor of 10 between human and mouse or rat), it was equivalent to the middle dose (80 mg/kg) used in this study. The tests were conducted 60 min after the last dose.

2.2.4 Forced swim test in mice

The test was carried out according to the method described by Porsolt et al. (1977) with modifications. Briefly, mice were forced to swim in a transparent glass vessel (14 cm in diameter, 25 cm high) filled with 10 cm of water at 24–26 °C. The total duration of immobility (seconds) was measured during the last 4 min of a single 6-min test session. Mice were considered immobile when they made no attempt to escape except the movements necessary to keep their heads above the water.

2.2.5 Forced swim test in rats

The test was carried out according to a modification of the procedure described by Porsolt et al. (1977), as suggested by Li et al. (2003a) for rats. Briefly, rats were placed individually in a clear glass cylinder (diameter 21 cm, height 50 cm) filled with 25 cm of water at 24–26 °C for 15 min. The rats were then dried and returned to their home cages. On the following day, rats were re-exposed to the forced swimming for 5 min. The total duration of immobility (seconds) was quantified during a test period of 5 min. Rats were considered immobile when they made no attempts to escape except the movements necessary to keep their heads above the water.

2.2.6 Tail suspension test in mice

Tail suspension test was performed based on the method of Steru et al. (1985). Briefly, mice were suspended 5 cm above the floor by means of an adhesive tape, placed approximately 1 cm from the tip of the tail. The total duration of immobility (seconds) was quantified during a test period of 6 min. Mice were considered immobile when they were completely motionless.

2.2.7 Open-field test in mice

The ambulatory behavior was assessed in an open-field test as described previously (Herrera-Ruiz et al., 2006). The open-field apparatus consisted of a square wooden arena $(30 \text{ cm} \times 30 \text{ cm} \times 15 \text{ cm})$ with black surface covering the inside walls. The floor of the wooden arena was divided equally into 25 squares marked by black lines. In the test, each mouse was placed individually into the center of the arena and allowed to explore freely. The number of crossings (squares crossed with all paws) and rearings (rising of the front paws) were recorded during a test period of 3 min. This apparatus was cleaned with a detergent and dried after occupancy by each mouse.

2.2.8 Open-field test in rats

Open-field test was carried out as described previously (Zhao et al., 2008) with minor modifications. The open-field apparatus consisted of a square wooden arena (100 cm \times 100 cm \times 40 cm) with black surface covering the inside walls. The floor of the wooden arena was divided equally into 25 squares marked by black lines. In the test, rat was placed individually into the center of the arena and allowed to explore freely. The

number of crossings (squares crossed with all paws) and rearings (rising of the front paws) were recorded during a test period of 3 min. This apparatus was cleaned with a detergent and dried after occupancy by each rat.

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. The GraphPad Prism software (version 4.0) was used to perform the statistics (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's test was used to test the differences between the groups. Difference was considered statistically significant when the value p< 0.05.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in mice

Figure 2.2 shows the effect of TGP treatment on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in mice. Treating mice with TGP at the doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg for seven days significantly reduced the duration of immobility (30% and 43%) in the forced swim test in mice, as compared to the control group. The classical antidepressant clomipramine, also caused a significant reduction in the immobility time (44%) in the forced swim test in mice.



Figure 2.2 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in mice. Values given are the mean \pm SEM (n = 10). ** p <0.01 as compared with control.

54

2.3.2 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in rats

Figure 2.3 shows the effect of TGP treatment on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in rats. Treating mice with TGP at the doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg for seven days significantly reduced the duration of immobility (41 % and 51%) in the forced swim test in mice, as compared to the control group. The classical antidepressant clomipramine, also caused a significant reduction in the immobility time (47%) in the forced swim test in mice.



Figure 2.3 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEM (n = 10). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 as compared with control.

2.3.3 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the tail suspension test in mice

Figure 2.4 shows the effect of TGP treatment on the duration of immobility in the tail suspension test in mice. Treating mice with TGP at the doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg for seven days significantly reduced the duration of immobility (41 % and 51%) in the tail suspension test in mice, as compared to the control group. The classical antidepressant clomipramine, also caused a significant reduction in the immobility time (47%) in the tail suspension test in mice.



Figure 2.4 Effect of TGP on the duration of immobility in the tail suspension test in mice. Values given are the mean \pm SEM (n = 10). ** p <0.01 as compared with control.

2.3.4 Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in mice

Table 2.1 shows the effect of TGP treatment on locomotor activity in mice. The locomotor activity was assessed by the number of crossings and rearings in the open-field test. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg caused a slight reduction in the number of crossings (23% and 29%) and rearings (23% and 25%) in the open-field test, as compared to the control group.

	inice	
Treatment	Number of crossings	Number of rearings
Control	99.7 ± 5.6	31.8 ± 2.0
TGP (40 mg/kg)	88.1 ± 5.9	26.6 ± 2.0
TGP (80 mg/kg)	77.1 ± 6.5 *	24.6 ± 1.6 *
TGP (160 mg/kg)	71.2 ± 6.3 **	23.8 ± 1.8 *
Clomipramine (20 mg/kg)	84.2 ± 6.1	26.2 ± 1.9

Table 2.1 Effect of TGP on the number of crossings and rearings in the open-field test in mice

Values given are the mean \pm SEM (n = 10).

* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 as compared with control.

2.3.5 Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in rats

Table 2.2 shows the effect of TGP treatment on locomotor activity in rats. TGP or clomipramine treatment produced no significant difference in the number of crossings (A) and rearings (B) in the open-field test in rats.

rats Treatment Number of crossings Number of rearings 49.7 ± 2.7 Control 11.5 ± 1.1 TGP (40 mg/kg) 47.9 ± 3.3 10.5 ± 1.3 TGP (80 mg/kg) 45.8 ± 2.7 9.9 ± 1.0 TGP (160 mg/kg) 43.7 ± 3.0 9.5 ± 0.9 Clomipramine (20 mg/kg) 45.2 ± 2.9 10.1 ± 1.0

Table 2.2 Effect of TGP on the number of crossings and rearings in the open-field test in

Values given are the mean \pm SEM (n = 10).

2.4. Discussion

In this study, the antidepressive effects of TGP were evaluated by using forced swim test and tail suspension test. The forced swim test and tail suspension test are well established screening paradigms for antidepressants. In these two tests, animals are under stress from which they cannot escape. After an initial period of struggling, they would become immobile, resembling a state of despair and mental depression (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). Multiple classes of antidepressant drugs and several nonpharmacological antidepressant therapies, including transcranial magnetic stimulation, rapid eyemovement sleep deprivation and electroconvulsive shock, are known to reduce immobility time in the forced swim and tail suspension tests (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). Consistent with these, the present results showed that after being treated with TGP at 80 and 160 mg/kg for seven days, the mice showed a significant reduction of immobility time in both forced swim and tail suspension tests. Treated with TGP at 80 and 160 mg/kg for seven days also significantly reduced the duration of immobility in the forced swim test in rats.

In these behavioral tests, false-positive results can be obtained for agents that stimulate locomotor activity (Bourin et al., 2001). Therefore, the effect of TGP on locomotion was evaluated by the open-field test in mice and rats. The results showed that TGP or chlorimipramine treatment did not increase the number of crossings and rearings in the open-field test in both mice and rats. The finding suggested that the reduction of immobility time elicited by TGP treatment in the forced swim and tail suspension tests was unlikely due to a psychomotor-stimulant effect, but rather an antidepressant-like effect of TGP.

Chapter 3

Antidepressant-like effects of total glycosides of peony in chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depression model in rats

3.1 Introduction

It is believed that chronic stress is a crucial factor involved in the onset and relapse of depression (Bidzinska, 1984; Sheline, 2000; Lee et al., 2002). In this regard, an animal model of chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS)-induced depression has been developed to simulate the pathogenesis of depression in humans. CUMS was found to induce long-term behavioral disturbances and neurochemical changes resembling the symptoms of clinical depression and has been generally thought to be the most promising and valuable depressive model in animals (Willner, 1997; Luo et al., 2008). The model has been developed by Willner et al. (1987) and employed in a number of antidepression studies (Papp et al., 2002; Li et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2007a; Luo et al., 2008; Tõnissaar et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008).

Previous studies (Chapter 2) showed that the intragastric administration of total glycosides of peony (TGP) caused a significant reduction of immobility time in both forced swim and tail suspension tests in rodents. To further confirm the antidepressant-like effects of TGP, the present study aims to evaluate the antidepressant-like effects of TGP in CUMS-induced depression model in rats by using behavioral tests such as sucrose preference, open-field and forced swim tests.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Drugs and chemical reagents

TGP was supplied by Ningbo Liwah Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Zhejiang, China). Fluoxetine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) and used as positive control for antidepressant action.

3.2.2 Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 200-220 g were obtained from the Laboratory Animal Services Center, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. Animals were maintained on a 12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on at 6:00 AM, lights off at 6:00 PM) under controlled temperature (22 ± 2 °C) and humidity ($50 \pm 10\%$), and were given standard diet and water *ad libitum*. They were allowed to acclimatize for 7 days before use. The experiments on animals have been approved by the Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee of the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

3.2.3 CUMS procedure

Rats were randomly assigned into six groups of ten individuals: control (physiological saline), CUMS plus vehicle (physiological saline), CUMS plus TGP (80 mg/kg), CUMS plus TGP (160 mg/kg), and CUMS plus fluoxetine (20 mg/kg), and both TGP and fluoxetine were given intragastrically 30 min before each stressor once daily for 5 weeks. The CUMS procedure was performed as described by Zhao et al. (2008), with a slight modification. Briefly, CUMS consisted of a variety of unpredictable stressors, namely,

48-h food deprivation, 24-h water deprivation, 5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C), 1-min tail pinch (1 cm from the end of the tail), physically restraint for 2 h, exposure to a foreign object (e.g., a piece of plastic) for 24 h and overnight illumination. One of these stressors was given every day between 9:30 am to 12: 00 am for 5 weeks. The order of stressors used in present study was showed in Table 3.1. Control (unstressed) animals were undisturbed except for necessary procedures such as routine cage cleaning.

Day	Stressor	Day	Stressor
D1	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)	D18	overnight illumination
D2	1-min tail pinch	D19	Exposure to a foreign object for 24 h
D3	physically restraint for 2 h	D20-21	48-h food deprivation
D4	overnight illumination	D22	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)
D5	24-h water deprivation	D23	overnight illumination
D6	Exposure to a foreign object for 24 h	D24	1-min tail pinch
D7-D8	48-h food deprivation	D25	physically restraint for 2 h
D9	Exposure to a foreign object for 24 h	D26	24-h water deprivation
D10	overnight illumination	D27	overnight illumination
D11	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)	D28	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)
D12	physically restraint for 2 h	D29	physically restraint for 2 h
D13	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)	D30-31	48-h food deprivation
D14	1-min tail pinch	D32	Exposure to a foreign object for 24 h
D15	24-h water deprivation	D33	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)
D16	physically restraint for 2 h	D34	physically restraint for 2 h
D17	5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C)	D35	overnight illumination

Table 3.1 Schedule of CUMS procedure

3.2.4 Sucrose preference test

Sucrose preference test was carried out before stress and at the end of 5-week CUMS exposure. The test was performed as described previously (Luo et al., 2008) with minor modifications. Briefly, 72 h before the test, rats were trained to adapt 1% sucrose solution (w/v): two bottles of 1% sucrose solution were placed in each cage, and 24 h later 1% sucrose in one bottle was replaced with tap water for 24 h. After the adaptation, rats were deprived of water and food for 24 h. Sucrose preference test was conducted at 9:00 a.m. in which rats were housed in individual cages and were free to access to two bottles containing 100 mL of sucrose solution (1% w/v) and 100 ml of water, respectively. After 3 h, the volumes of consumed sucrose solution and water were recorded and the sucrose preference was calculated by the following formula:

Sucrose preference = $\frac{sucrose \ consumption}{water \ consumption + sucrose \ consumption} x \ 100\%.$

3.2.5 Open-field test

Open-field test was carried out before stress and at the end of 5-week CUMS exposure. The test was performed as described previously (Zhao et al., 2008) with minor modifications. The open-field apparatus consisted of a square wooden arena (100 cm \times 100 cm \times 40 cm) with black surface covering the inside walls. The floor of the wooden arena was divided equally into 25 squares marked by black lines. In the test, the rat was placed individually into the center of the arena and allowed to explore freely. The number of crossings (squares crossed with all paws) and rearings (rising of the front paws) were recorded during a test period of 3 min. This apparatus was cleaned with a detergent and dried after occupancy by each rat.

3.2.6 Forced swim test

Forced swim test was carried out before stress and at the end of 5-week CUMS exposure on 2 successive days. The test was performed according to a modification of the traditional method described by Porsolt et al. (1977), as suggested by Li et al. (2003) for rats. Briefly, rats were forced to swim in a vertical plastic cylinder (diameter 21 cm, height 50 cm) containing 25 cm of water maintained at 25 ± 1 °C. On the 1st day of experiment, rats were forced to swim for 15 min. They were then dried and returned to their home cages. On the following day, rats were re-exposed to the forced swimming for 5 min. The total duration of immobility (seconds) was quantified during a test period of 5 min. Rats were considered immobile when they made no attempts to escape except the movements necessary to keep their heads above the water.

3.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. The GraphPad Prism software (version 4.0) was used to perform the statistics (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's test was used to test the differences between the groups. Difference was considered statistically significant when the value p< 0.05.

3.3.1 Effect of TGP on the percentage of sucrose consumption in CUMS-treated rats

Figure 3.1 shows the effect of TGP treatment on the percentage of sucrose consumption in CUMS-treated rats. Before CUMS treatment was given, there was no significant change in the percentage of sucrose consumption among all rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly reduced the percentage of sucrose consumption in the animals (43%), as compared to the control (i.e., non-CUMS-treated rats). While long-term treatment with TGP at daily doses of 80 or 160 mg/kg significantly increased the percentage of sucrose consumption in CUMS-treated rats (25% and 34%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. Treatment with fluoxethine (20 mg/kg) also significantly increased the percentage of sucrose consumption in CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 3.1 Effect of TGP on the percentage of sucrose consumption in CUMS-treated rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 10). ${}^{\#}p < 0.01$ as compared with the control; ${}^{*}p < 0.05$, ${}^{**}p < 0.01$ as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

3.3.2 Effect of TGP on locomotor activity in the open-field test in CUMS-treated rats

Figure 3.2 shows the effect of TGP treatment on locomotor activity of the CUMS-treated rats in the open-field test. The locomotor activity was assessed by the number of crossings and rearings in the open-field test. Before CUMS treatment was given, there was no significant change in the number of crossings and rearings among all rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly reduced the number of crossings (A) and rearing (B) in rats (70% and 62%, respectively), as compared to the control. Long-term treatment with TGP at daily doses of 80 or 160 mg/kg significantly increased the number of crossings in CUMS-treated rats (53% and 73%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. Long-term treatment with TGP at a daily dose of 160 mg/kg also significantly increased the number of rearings in CUMS-treated rats (56%), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. Treatment with fluoxetine (20 mg/kg) as well significantly increased the number of crossings and rearings in CUMS-treated rats (87% and 60%, respectively).



Figure 3.2 Effect of TGP on the number of crossings (A) and rearings (B) in the open-field test in CUMS-treated rats.

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 10). [#] p < 0.01 as compared with the control; ^{*} p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group. 3.3.3 Effect of TGP on the immobility time in the forced swim test in CUMS-treated rats

Figure 3.3 shows the effect of TGP treatment on the immobility time of rats in the forced swim test. Before CUMS treatment was given, there was no significant change in the immobility time in the forced swim test among all rats. The exposure to CUMS caused a significant increase in the immobility time of rats (37%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 or 160 mg/kg significantly decreased the immobility time of rats exposed to CUMS in a dose-dependent manner (16% and 22%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. Fluoxetine treatment at a dose of 20 mg/kg also significantly decreased the immobility time of CUMS-treated rats (25%).



Figure 3.3 Effect of TGP on the immobility time in the forced swim test in CUMS-treated rats.

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 10). [#] p < 0.01 as compared with the control; ^{*} p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

3.4 Discussion

The experimental model of CUMS-induced depression is relevant to clinical depression, and many behavioral and biochemical changes observable in animals are paralleled by alterations in patients with depression (Willner, 1997 and 2005). It has been shown that the CUMS-induced depression model can be used to evaluate the efficacy of drug antidepressant candidates through behavioral tests such as sucrose preference, open-field and forced swim tests (Papp et al., 2002; Li et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2007a; Tõnissaar et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008).

Sucrose preference test is an indicator of anhedonia-like behavioral change (Willner, 1997 and 2005). Anhedonia, a core symptom of human major depression, was modeled by inducing a decrease in responsiveness to rewards reflected by a reduced consumption and/or preference of sweetened solutions (Willner, 1997 and 2005). The results of present study showed that rat subjected to CUMS procedure consumed less sucrose solution when compared to non-stressed rats. Long-term treatment of TGP significantly suppressed this behavioral change which suggested the antidepressant-like action of TGP. In the open-field test, normal animals usually show increased locomotor activity in a novel open field, which is driven by the instinct of exploration in a novel environment (Luo et al., 2008). However, after chronic stress, animal displayed a decreased locomotor activity in a novel open field (Katz et al., 1981; D'Aquila et al., 2000), indicative of a behavioral change that may reflect certain aspects of "refractory loss of interest" (Katz et al., 1981; Luo et al., 2008). In our present study, we are able to demonstrate that CUMS, for a period of 5 weeks, significantly reduced the number of crossings and rearing in the open-field test. The CUMS-induced decrease in locomotor activity was ameliorated by long-term TGP treatment during the course of CUMS.

Since 1977 when the original report by Porsolt and colleagues was published, forced swim test has been widely used for assessing the effectiveness of candidate antidepressants. Chronic stress has been shown to dramatically increase the immobility time of mice in forced swim test (Zhou et al., 2007a; Tõnissaar et al., 2008), a manifestation of "behavioral despair" (Cryan et al., 2005). Consistently, CUMS, as observed in the present study, resulted in an increased immobility time in forced swim test in mice. Long-term TGP treatment also counteracted the CUMS-induced increase in immobility time in rats.

Taken together, results obtained from behavioral studies indicated that long-term TGP treatment produced an antidepressant-like action in CUMS-induced depression model in rats.

Chapter 4

Antidepressive and neuroprotective mechanisms of total glycosides of peony in rats treated with chronic unpredictable mild stress

4.1 Introduction

Previous studies (Chapter 2) showed that the intragastric administration of total glycosides of peony (TGP) caused a significant reduction of immobility time in both forced swim and tail suspension tests in rodents. Long-term treatment with TGP also produced antidepressant-like effects in the chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS)-induced depression model in rats (Chapter 3). However, the mechanism (s) underlying the antidepressant-like action of TGP are still unknown.

The hippocampus has been evidenced as a key structure of the brain in pathophysiology of depression/stress disorders. Several recent studies showed that major depression was closely associated with reduced hippocampal volumes, and there was a positive correlation between the hippocampus atrophy and the time course of depression (Li et al., 2003b; MacQueen et al., 2003; Saylam et al., 2006). Postmortem analyses indicated a reduction

in the neuronal cells in the hippocampus of patients with major depression (Stockmeier et al., 2004). On the other hand, it has been reported that antidepressants possessed neuroprotective properties, and they were able to ameliorate impairments in cellular plasticity and resilience in the hippocampus (Bachmann et al., 2005). These data suggest that neuronal atrophy and destruction in the hippocampus plays a causal role in the development and progress of depression and protect against hippocampal neuronal damage may be an important therapeutic intervention of depression (Manji and Duman, 2001; Fuchs et al., 2004).

The CUMS-induced depression model is generally thought to be the most promising and valuable rodent model to study depression in animals, mimicking several human depressive symptoms. Moreover, as proposed by Willner (Willner, 1997 and 2005), CUMS appears to be more suitable for studying the neurobiological basis of depression and the mechanisms of action of antidepressant drugs compared to the acute stress models. The present study aims to examine the neuroprotective effects of TGP on the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. In order to investigate the mechanism(s) underlying the neuroprotective effects of TGP, serum corticosterone level, and glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) mRNA levels, intracellular reactive oxygen

species (ROS) level, reduced glutathione (GSH) level, malondialdehyde (MDA) level, superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity, catalase (CAT) activity, neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus were measured in CUMS-treated rats, with or without TGP treatment.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Drugs and chemical reagents

TGP was supplied by Ningbo Liwah Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Zhejiang, China). 2',7'-Dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFH-DA) was obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). 5,5'-Dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid, toluidine blue and trichloroacetic acid were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). All other reagents and solvents were of analytical grade.

4.2.2 Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 200-220 g were obtained from the Laboratory Animal Services Center, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong. Animals were maintained on a 12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on at 6:00 AM, lights off at 6:00 PM) under controlled temperature (22 ± 2 °C) and humidity ($50 \pm 10\%$), and were given standard diet and water *ad libitum*. They were allowed to acclimatize for 7 days before use. The experiments on animals have been approved by the Animal Experimentation Ethics Committee of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and conformed to the guidelines of the "Principles of Laboratory Animal Care" (NIH publication No.80-23, revised 1996). Effort was made to minimize the number and suffering of the animals.

4.2.3 CUMS procedure

Rats were randomly assigned into four groups of twelve individuals: control, CUMS plus vehicle (physiological saline), CUMS plus TGP (80 mg/kg) and CUMS plus TGP (160 mg/kg). TGP were dissolved in physiological saline and given intragastrically 30 min before each stressor once every day for 5 weeks. The CUMS procedure was performed

as described by Zhao et al. (2008), with a slight modification. Briefly, CUMS consisted of a variety of unpredictable stressors, namely, 48-h food deprivation, 24-h water deprivation, 5-min cold swimming (at 6 °C), 1-min tail pinch (1 cm from the end of the tail), physically restraint for 2 h, exposure to a foreign object (e.g., a piece of plastic) for 24 h and overnight illumination. One of these stressors was given every day between 9:30 am to 12: 00 am for 5 weeks. The order of stressors used was the same as showed in Chapter 3 (Table 3.1). Control (unstressed) animals were undisturbed except for necessary procedures such as routine cage cleaning.

4.2.4 Histological analysis

Twenty-four hours after the last stressor, rats (n=4/group) were sacrificed by decapitation and thier brain samples were immediately dissected out, fixed in 10% buffered formalin for 1 week, dehydrated with alcohols, and embedded in paraffin. Tissue sections (10 µm thick) containing hippocampus were prepared using a Leica radial microtomes and mounted on gelatin-coated glass microscope slides. After drying at room temperature, the sections were de-paraffinized in xylen, rehydrated, and stained with toluidine blue. To assess hippocampal injury, Nissl-positive neuronal cell numbers were manually and rigidly counted in the hippocampal CA3 region under a light microscope at high magnification (×400) as previously described (Liu et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2009). The total cell counts were averaged from four different fields per animal. Data was expressed as surviving cell number per millimeter (mm) in the CA3 region.

4.2.5 Blood sampling and tissue collection

Twenty-four hours after the last stressor, rats (n= 8/group) were sacrificed by decapitation and the blood samples were collected in tubes. Serum was separated by centrifugation at 4000 g for 10 min and stored at -80 °C until assay. Whole brains were rapidly removed from rats and chilled in an ice-cold saline solution. Hippocampus samples were dissected on a cold plate according to the method of Angelucci et al. (2003) and then stored at -80 °C until assay.

4.2.6 Measurement of corticosterone level in serum

Serum corticosterone level was measured using a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Assay Designs, Inc., Michigan) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, samples, serial dilutions of corticosterone standard (0-20000 pg/mL), corticosterone EIA conjugate and corticosterone EIA antibody were applied into a 96-well plate precoated with donkey anti-Sheep IgG and incubated on a shaker for 2 h at room temperature. Then pNpp substrate solution was added and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour after three washes. The reaction was stopped with trisodium phosphate and absorbance was recorded at 405 nm immediately. Corticosterone level was determined from the the standard calibration curve constructed under same conditions. The detection limit of the assay is ~ 27 pg/mL. Data were expressed as ng/mL and all assays were performed in duplicate.

4.2.7 Biochemical analysis

4.2.7.1 Preparation of tissue homogenates

Hippocampus samples were homogenized in chilled phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). The homogenates were centrifuged at $800 \times g$ for 5 min at 4 °C to separate the nuclear debris. The supernatant thus obtained was centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 20 min at 4 °C to get the post mitochondrial supernatant (PMS), which was used to assay the levels of intracellular
ROS, MDA and GSH, and the activites of SOD and CAT.

4.2.7.2 Measurement of intracellular ROS level

The Intracellular ROS level was measured as previously described (Dohare et al., 2008). Briefly, an aliquot (100 μ L) of PMS was incubated with DCFH-DA at a final concentration of 10 μ M for 30 min at 37 °C in darkness. The fluorescence intensity was then measured in a microplate reader at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 538 nm. The ROS level was normalized to the protein concentration for each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-stressed control.

4.2.7.3 Measurement of MDA content

MDA content was measured by the method of Ohkawa et al. (1979), using thiobarbituric acid. Briefly, an aliquot (100 μ L) of PMS was mixed with 1500 μ L of acetic acid (20% [v/v], pH 3.5), 1500 μ L of thiobarbituric acid (0.8 %, w/v) and 200 μ L of sodium dodecyl sulfate (8%, w/v). Each reaction mixture was heated for 60 min at 95 °C and cooled to room temperature. Next, 5000 μ L of n-butanol was added. After mixing and

centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 min, the organic layer was collected and the absorbance of the solution was measured at 532 nm. The MDA content was normalized to the protein concentration for each sample and expressed as nmol/mg protein.

4.2.7.4 Measurement of GSH content

GSH content was measured according to the method of Gulati et al. (2007). Briefly, an aliquot (100 μ L) of PMS was mixed with 200 μ L of trichloroacetic acid (25%, v/v) and 200 μ L of saline. The mixture was centrifuged (3000 g) for 10 min at 4 °C. An aliquot (200 μ L) of supernatant was mixed with 1 mL of phosphate buffer (100 mM, pH 8.0) and 50 μ L of 5,5'-Dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (3 mM). The solution was stood at room temperature for 5 minutes and its absorbance was measured at 412 nm. The GSH content was normalized to the protein concentration for each sample and expressed as nmol/mg protein.

4.2.7.5 Measurement of SOD activity

SOD activity was measured using a SOD activity assay kit (BioVision, Mountain View, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 20 μ L of PMS was added with 200 μ L of water soluble tetrazolium working solution and 20 μ L of enzyme working solution into a 96-well plate. After incubating the plate at 37 °C for 20 min, the absorbance of each well was measured at 450 nm by using a microplate reader. The SOD activity was normalized to the protein concentration for each sample and expressed as nU/mg protein.

4.2.7.6 Measurement of CAT activity

CAT activity was measured according to the method of Shen et al. (2009). Briefly, 50 μ L of PMS was mixed with 1950 μ L of phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 7.0) and 1000 μ L of hydrogen peroxide (0.019 M). The activity of CAT was calculated by the decrease of absorbency at 240 nm over 2 min. The CAT activity was normalized to the protein concentration for each sample and expressed as U/g protein.

4.2.7.7 Measurement of protein concentration

The protein content was measured according to the method of Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951) using bovine serum albumin as standard.

4.2.8 Measurement of GR, MR, BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels

GR, MR, BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels were measured using TaqMan real-time reverse transcription-PCR analysis. Briefly, total RNA from hippocampus was isolated with TRIzol Reagent (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Concentrations of extracted RNA were calculated from the absorbance at 260 nm. The quality of RNA was assessed by absorbances at 260 nm and 280 nm, with the ratio of A₂₆₀ to A₂₈₀ ranging from 1.9 to 2.1 being acceptable. Total RNA (1.5 µg) was transcribed using a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Assays-on-Demand primers for GR (Rn00561369 m1), (Rn00565562 m1), MR BDNF (Rn02531967 s1), NGF (Rn01533872 m1), NT-3 (Rn00579280 m1) and β-actin (Rn00667869 m1) were purchased from Applied Biosystems, Inc. (Foster City, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR

analysis was performed with a TaqMan[®] Fast Universal PCR Master Mix Kit (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) by using StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) with the following profile: 2 min hold at 50 °C, 10 min hold at 95 °C, followed by 60 cycles of 15 sec at 95 °C and 1 min at 60 °C. Sequence Detection Software 2.0 (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) was used for data analysis. The relative expression of GR, MR, BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA was normalized to the amount of β -actin in the same cDNA using the relative quantification method (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method) as described by the manufacturer.

4.2.9 Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein levels

Hippocampus samples were weighed and homogenized in tenfold volume of lysis buffer. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 30 min at 4 °C and supernatants were used for BDNF, NGF and NT-3 assays.

Protein levels of BDNF were measured using a commercially available sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples and serial dilutions of BDNF standard (0-500 pg/mL) were applied into 96-well immunoplates precoated with rabbit anti-human BDNF antibody and incubated on a shaker overnight at 4 °C. After washing four times, biotinylated mouse anti-human BDNF antibody was added and incubated for 3 h at room temperature. Then streptavidin-HRP conjugate solution was added and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour after washing. TMB/E substrate was added and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance was recorded at 450 nm immediately. BDNF concentration was determined from the standard calibration curve. The detection limit of the assay is 7.8 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (NGF, NT-3 and Neurotrophin-4) was not observed. Data were represented as ng/g wet weight.

Protein level of NGF was measured using a two-site ELISA kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 96-well immunoplate was coated with anti-NGF pAb (capture Ab). After overnight incubation at 4 °C, the plate was blocked with "Block and Sample" buffer for 1 h. Then samples and serial dilutions of NGF standard (0-250 pg/mL) were added after washing and then shaken for 6 h at room temperature. After three washes, anti-NGF mAb was added and incubated overnight at 4

°C. Then anti-rat IgG HRP-conjugate was added and incubated for 2.5 h at room temperature under orbital shaking. The substrate, "TMB One Solution" as added. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance was recorded at 450 nm within 30 minutes. NGF concentrations were determined from NGF standard calibration curve constructed under same conditions. The detection limit of the assay is \sim 7.8 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (BDNF, NT-3 and Neurotrophin-4) was less than 3%. Data were represented as ng/g wet weight.

Protein levels of NT-3 were measured using a two-site ELISA kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 96-well immunoplates were coated with anti-NT-3 pAb (capture Ab). After overnight incubation at 4 °C, the plate was blocked with "Block and Sample" buffer for 1 h. Then samples and serial dilutions of NGF standard (0-300 pg/mL) were added after washing and then shaken for 6 h at room temperature. After three washes, the anti-NT-3 mAb was added and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Then anti-rat IgG HRP-conjugate was added and incubated for 2.5 h at room temperature under orbital shaking. The substrate, "TMB One Solution" as added. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance was recorded at 450 nm. NT-3 concentrations were determined from NT-3 standard calibration curve constructed

under same conditions. The detection limit of the assay is 9.4 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (BDNF, NGF and Neurotrophin-4) was less than 3%. Data were represented as ng/g wet weight.

4.2.10 Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. The GraphPad Prism software (version 4.0) was used to perform the statistics (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's test was used to test the differences between the groups. Difference was considered statistically significant when the value *p* < 0.05.

4.3.1 Effect of TGP on pyramidal neuronal cell loss in the hippocampal CA3 region of CUMS-treated rats

Nissl staining is a histological method to detect the structural abnormalities of the hippocampus (Figure 4.1). The arrangement of pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the control group was trim and dense (Figure 4.1A). In contrast, the arrangement of pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the vehicle-treated and CUMS group was sparse (Figure 4.1B). TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg could improve CUMS-induced abnormal-arranged pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of rats (Figure 4.1C and Figure 4.1D, respectively). Figure 4.2 shows the number of pyramidal neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly decreased the number of pyramidal neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region by 46% when compared with the control. TGP treatment dose-dependently increased the number of neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region of CUMS-treated rats (35-49%), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.1A Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the control group (Nissl staining, magnification ×200).



Figure 4.1B Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the vehicle plus CUMS group ((Nissl staining, magnification ×200).



Figure 4.1C Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the TGP (80 mg/kg) plus CUMS group ((Nissl staining, magnification ×200).



Figure 4.1D Pyramidal neurons in the hippocampal CA3 region of the TGP (160 mg/kg) plus CUMS group ((Nissl staining, magnification ×200).



Figure 4.2 Quantitative analysis of the number of pyramidal neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region.

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 4).

p < 0.01 as compared to the control; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 as compared to the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.2 Effect of TGP on serum corticosterone level in CUMS-treated rats

Figure 4.3 shows the effect of TGP treatment on serum corticosterone level in CUMS-treated rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure caused a significant increase in serum corticosterone level in rats (223%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment dose-dependently decreased serum corticosterone level in CUMS-treated rats (15-24%), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 8). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*} p <0.05, ^{**} p <0.01 as compared to the

vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.3 Effect of TGP on GR and MR mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Effects of TGP treatment on GR and MR mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated and native rats are showed in Figure 4.4A and Figure 4.4B respectively. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly decreased the hippocampal GR mRNA level in rats (54%), as compared to the control. TGP (80 and 160 mg/kg) treatment significantly increased GR mRNA level in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (26% and 69%, respectively), as compared with he vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. On the other hand, there was no significant change in the MR mRNA level in the hippocampus among all rats.





Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group. 4.3.4 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

As shown in Figure 4.5, 5-week CUMS exposure significantly increased intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of rats (83%), as compared to the control. TGP (80 and 160 mg/kg) treatment significantly decreased intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (21% and 29%, respectively), as compared with the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.5 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats.

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n =8). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.5 Effect of TGP on MDA content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

As shown in Figure 4.6, 5-week CUMS exposure significantly increased the content of MDA in the hippocampus of rats (94%), as compared to the control. TGP (80 and 160 mg/kg) treatment significantly decreased MDA content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (22% and 32%, respectively), as compared with the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.6 Effect of TGP on MDA content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 8). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; ^{**} p <0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.6 Effect of TGP on GSH content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Figure 4.7 shows the effect of TGP treatment on GSH content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure caused a significant decrease in the content of GSH in the hippocampus of rats (45%), as compared to the control. TGP (80 and 160 mg/kg) treatment significantly increased GSH content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (26% and 43%, respectively), as compared with the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.7 Effect of TGP on GSH content in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 8). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*} p <0.05, ^{**} p <0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.7 Effect of TGP on SOD activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Figure 4.8 shows the effect of TGP treatment on SOD activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure caused a significant decrease in the antivity of SOD in the hippocampus of rats (35%), as compared to the control. TGP (80 and 160 mg/kg) treatment significantly increased SOD activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (30% and 41%, respectively), as compared with the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.8 Effect of TGP on SOD activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 8). # p < 0.01 as compared to the control; * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.8 Effect of TGP on CAT activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Figure 4.9 shows the effect of TGP treatment on CAT activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly decreased the activity of CAT in the hippocampus of rats (29%), as compared to the control. TGP (160 mg/kg) treatment significantly increased CAT activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats (22%), as compared with the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.9 Effect of TGP on CAT activity in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 8). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*} p <0.05 as compared with the vehicle-treated

CUMS group.

4.3.9 Effect of TGP on BDNF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Effects of TGP treatment on BDNF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats are showed in Figure 4.10A and Figure 4.10B respectively. A 5-week CUMS exposure significantly decreased the BDNF protein level in the hippocampus (43%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly increased the BDNF protein level in the hippocampus of rat exposed to CUMS (29% and 65%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. BDNF mRNA level in the hippocampus was also found to be significantly decreased in CUMS-treated rats (53%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly decreased in CUMS-treated rats (53%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly increased the BDNF mRNA level in the hippocampus of rats exposed to CUMS (48% and 78%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.10 Effect of TGP on BDNF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p < 0.01 as compared tothe control; ^{*} p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.3.10 Effect of TGP on NGF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Effects of TGP treatment on NGF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats are showed in Figure 4.11A and Figure 4.11B respectively. There were no significant changes in the NGF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus among all rats.



Figure 4.11 Effect of TGP on NGF protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats.

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6).

4.3.11 Effects of TGP on NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Effects of TGP treatment on NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats are showed in Figure 4.12A and Figure 4.12B respectively. A 5-week CUMS exposure caused a significant decrease in the protein level of NT-3 in the hippocampus of rats (50%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly increased the NT-3 protein level in the hippocampus of rat exposed to CUMS (53% and 77%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats. NT-3 mRNA level in the hippocampus was also found to be significantly decreased in CUMS-treated rats (36%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly increased the NT-3 mRNA level in the hippocampus was also found to be significantly decreased in CUMS-treated rats (36%), as compared to the control. TGP treatment at doses of 80 and 160 mg/kg significantly increased the NT-3 mRNA level in the hippocampus of rats exposed to CUMS (28% and 41%, respectively), as compared to the vehicle-treated and CUMS-treated rats.



Figure 4.12 Effect of TGP on NT-3 protein (A) and mRNA (B) levels in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; p < 0.05, p < 0.01 as compared with the vehicle-treated CUMS group.

4.4 Discussion

Chronic stress is a risk factor for major depression, and chronic stress paradigm in rodents is often used as an animal model of depression because it recapitulates a multitude of behavioral characteristics and biochemical states of depression in human (Willner, 1997 and 2005). In addition, chronic stress has also been shown to induce a significant decrease in the volume of hippocampus, and chronic antidepressant treatment was found to restore the normal volume of hippocampus (Czéh et al., 2001; van der Hart et al., 2002). The CA3 region of hippocampal neurons is the most vulnerable target to stress (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Magariños et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2003). Several studies showed that chronic stress could induce atrophy and destruction of the hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons in animals, while chronic treatment with antidepressants significantly reversed these changes (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Magariños et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2003; Takuma et al., 2007). Consistent results were observed in this study. A 5-week CUMS caused hippocampal neuronal damage in rats, as indicated by a significant decrease in the number of pyramidal neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region. Long-term treatment with TGP markedly inhibited the decrease of neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region of CUMS-treated rats, suggesting that TGP produced

neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus in CUMS-treated rats.

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis plays a key role in eliciting physiological responses to various stressful stimuli (Pan et al., 2006). It is well known that HPA axis is activated in response to stress, resulting in an increase of circulating glucocorticoids such as corticosterone in rodents or cortisol in primates. Sustained activation of the HPA axis is associated with an abnormally high blood glucocorticoid level, which may eventually lead to pathological damages in the hippocampal neurons (Johnson et al., 2006; Murray et In this connection, it has been reported that therapeutic actions of al., 2008). antidepressants are produced through a modulation of HPA axis in the depressive patients (Nikisch et al., 2005; Himmerich et al., 2007). Thus, the restoration of a normal functional status of HPA axis may be critically involved in the therapeutic intervention of depression (Pan et al., 2006). The present finding of CUMS-induced hyperactivity of HPA axis, as indicated by an increased serum corticosterone level, is corroborated by observations from other studies (Pan et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2006; Li et al., 2007b; Sheikh TGP treatment significantly decreased serum corticosterone level in et al., 2007). CUMS-treated rats, suggesting that TGP could inhibit the hyperactivity of HPA axis in depressive rats.

Elevated blood level of glucocorticoid exerts feedback regulation on the hyperactive HPA axis (Xu et al., 2006; Rybnikova et al., 2007), wherein two distinct intracellular receptor subtypes, namely, MR and GR, are involved (Reul and de Kloet, 1985). Hippocampus, which is a target for stress hormones, contains high levels of MR and GR (Budziszewska, 2002; Racca et al., 2005). MR has a high affinity for endogenous corticosteroids, and is believed to play a role in the regulation of circadian fluctuations in these hormones (Raone et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2008). In contrast, GR has a lower affinity for endogenous corticosteroids (Raone et al., 2007), and is believed to regulate stress responses, particularly when the glucocorticoid level is high (Neigh and Nemeroff, 2006; Xu et al., 2006; Raone et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2008). With regard to this, it has been demonstrated that the GR mRNA level in the hippocampus was decreased in depressive animals, and long-term administration of antidepressants could attenuate this change (Pariante and Miller, 2001; Xu et al., 2006; Raone et al., 2007). Consistent to these observations, the present results showed that the GR mRNA level in the hippocampus was significantly decreased in CUMS-treated rats, with the MR mRNA level being unaffected. TGP treatment, which was found to increase the GR mRNA level in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats, may be able to modulate the feedback regulation on stress response.

Oxidative stress is defined as a disturbance in the balance between the production of ROS level and antioxidant defenses (Yazdanparast et al., 2008). Previous studies have demonstrated that chronic stress caused a significant increase in the production of ROS level (Lucca et al., 2009). Excessive ROS level can cause damages to the major macromolecules in cells, including lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids (Niebrój-Dobosz et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2008), culminating in neuronal dysfunction and depression. MDA, a by-product of lipid peroxidation, is produced under oxidative stress. It reflects the oxidative damages of the plasma membrane and resultant thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, which are proportional to lipid peroxidation and oxidant stress (Xiao et al., 2008). It has been reported that MDA level was significantly increased in the hippocampus of rats exposed to chronic stress, which could be reversed by antidepressants treatment (Zafir and Banu, 2007; Lucca et al., 2009). The present study demonstrated that CUMS caused a significant increase in the levels of intracellular ROS and MDA in the hippocampus, while long-term treatment with TGP significantly reversed these changes. On the other hand, biological antioxidants are natural compounds which can prevent the uncontrolled formation of free radicals and activated oxygen species, or inhibit their reaction with biological structures (Yazdanparast et al., 2008). These compounds include antioxidative enzymes, such as SOD and CAT, and non-enzymatic antioxidants, such as

GSH (Yazdanparast et al., 2008). SOD and CAT have been shown to directly catalyze the transformation of peroxides and superoxides to nontoxic species (Griendling and Ushio-Fukai, 2000). GSH, the most abundant natural antioxidant, also plays a critical role in the anti-ROS defense system (Mueller et al., 2001). The efficiency of this antioxidant defense system is apparently weakened in depressive disorders (Lukash et al., 2002), resulting in an ineffective scavenging of free radicals which may lead to tissue damages (Niebrój-Dobosz et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2008). Chronic stress has also been shown to cause an impairment of antioxidant defenses in rat hippocampus, and antidepressant treatment was found to restore the normal level of antioxidant defenses (Zafir and Banu, 2007; Lucca et al., 2009). Consistent to such hypothesis, the present result showed that GSH level, SOD and CAT activities were all significantly decreased in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats as compared to untreated controls. Chronic treatment with TGP significantly increased GSH level, SOD and CAT activities in the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats.

Neurotrophins are a family of proteins which modulate neuronal plasticity, inhibit cell death cascades and increase cell survival proteins that are responsible for proliferation and maintenance of central nervous system neurons (Huang et al., 2001; Blum and Konnerth,

2005). Thus, increasing neurotrophins contents to ameliorate the neuronal atrophy and destruction in the hippocampus may be an important therapeutic intervention of depression (Altar. 1999; Castrén and Rantamäki, 2008). BDNF, NGF and NT-3 are the most abundant neurotrophic factors in the central nervous system. Interestingly, in recent years, it has also been demonstrated that abnormal BDNF, NGF and NT-3 expression were closely associated with depression (Nestler et al., 2002; Angelucci et al., 2003; von Richthofen et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2004a and b; Dwivedi et al., 2005; Karege et al., 2002 and 2005; Duman and Monteggia, 2006; Topic et al., 2008; Huston et al., 2009).

It has been found that BDNF content was decreased in the hippocampus from suicide victims with major depression (Karege et al., 2005), whereas brain infusion of BDNF produced antidepressant-like action in animals (Siuciak et al., 1997). Clinical studies have shown that a decrease in serum BDNF level was observed in depressive patients (Karege et al., 2002 and 2005a; Aydemir et al., 2006; Aydemir et al., 2007), and antidepressant treatment could restore the normal level of BDNF (Shimizu et al., 2003; Başterzi et al., 2009). BDNF content was found to be decreased in depressive rodents as well, which could be reversed by long term antidepressant treatment (Xu et al., 2006; Li et al., 2007b; Zheng 2006). Moreover, Monteggia et al. (2007) showed that conditional

BDNF knockout mice displayed an enhancement of depression-like behavior. Ibarguen-Vargas and colleagues (2009) have demonstrated that a deficit in BDNF can dampen the effects of antidepressant in mice exposed to unpredictable chronic mild stress. These data suggest that BDNF plays an important role in the molecular pathophysiology of depression and up-regulation of BDNF expression may contribute to the action of antidepressants (Shimizu et al., 2003; Başterzi et al., 2009). Consistent to such hypothesis, in the present study, a 5-week CUMS exposure was found to decrease BDNF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of rats, and TGP treatment reversed the CUMS-induced changes. Furthermore, the present study revealed that a 5-week CUMS exposure significantly decreased NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of rats, while TGP significantly increased NT-3 protein and mRNA levels. Indeed, it has been well demonstrated that NT-3 is also involved in the pathogenesis of depression. A postmortem study in suicide victims has shown decreased NT-3 protein levels in the hippocampus (Karege et al., 2005). A recent clinical study has also shown a significant decrease in NT-3 expression in depressive patients (Otsuki et al., 2008). The NT-3 protein level was also found to decrease in the hippocampus of depressive rats, whereas chronic treatment with antidepressant increased the NT-3 protein level in the hippocampus (Chen et al., 2008; Topic et al., 2008). In addition, the present study demonstrated that a

5-week CUMS did not alter NGF protein and mRNA levels in the hippocampus of rats as compared to untreated controls. So far, contradictory data have been reported on hippocampal NGF expression in different animal models of stress. In rodents, NGF mRNA level was increased in the hippocampus after one or repeated episodes of cold stress (Foreman et al., 1993), but remained unchanged after social isolation and electric foot shocks (Spillantini et al., 1989; Schulte-Herbrüggen et al., 2006), whereas hippocampal NGF content was reduced after chronic psychosocial stress (Alfonso et al., 2004). The reason for these conflicting results on NGF expression in the hippocampus might be due to the variety in animal species and the intensity of the stressors.

In conclusion, long-term TGP treatment was found to produce neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. This effect was associated with the attenuation of HPA axis hyperactivation, and the inhibition of oxidative stress, and the up-regulation of BDNF and NT-3 levels in the hippocampus.

Chapter 5

Neuroprotective effects of total glycosides of peony against corticosterone-induced cell death in PC12 cells and its possible mechanisms

5.1 Introduction

In recent years, a substantial amount of preclinical and clinical data have supported the notion that neuronal atrophy/destruction in the hippocampus is involved in the pathogenesis of depression (Manji and Duman, 2001; Fuchs et al., 2004). Several putative mechanisms have been implicated. One of them is the hyperactivation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, with the latter being characterized by elevated levels of circulating glucocorticoids in blood (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Sapolsky, 2000; Aihara et al., 2007; Watson and Mackin, 2007; Murray et al., 2008). It is well known that the HPA axis is activated in response to stress, which results in the increased concentration of glucocorticoid in circulating blood. Under normal condition, blood glucocorticoid level is tightly regulated by a negative feedback mechanism. However, it has been reported that high concentration of blood glucocorticoid was maintained in patients suffered from depression due to the dysfunction of feedback mechanism (Johnson

et al., 2006; Watson and Mackin, 2007). High glucocorticoid level can cause pathological damages in hippocampal neurons (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Sapolsky, 2000; Johnson et al., 2006; Murray et al., 2008).

The rat adrenal pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells, possessing typical features of neurons and expressing high level of glucocorticoid receptors (Anderson and Michelsohn, 1989), have been widely used as an neuronal cell line in a variety of studies. Treatment of the PC12 cell line with high concentrations of glucocorticoid to simulate hippocampal nuronal damage in depressive disorder, has been used as an *in vitro* experimental model of depression (Gao et al., 2008; Li et al., 2003b and 2003c; Li et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2006b). Different types of classical antidepressants have been shown to protect against cytotoxicity induced by glucocorticoid in PC12 cells (Li et al., 2003c), suggesting that cytoprotection against glucocorticoid-induced neurotoxicity may represent one of the action pathways of antidepressants.

Previous studies (Chapter 2) have demonstrated the antidepressant-like effect of total glycosides of peony (TGP) using forced swim and tail suspension tests. The antidepressive effect of TGP was also observed in rats exposed to chronic unpredictable
mild stress (Chapter 3). However, the mechanism by which TGP exerts its antidepressant-like effect is not fully understood. The present study aims to examine the neuroprotective effects of TGP on cultured PC12 cells exposed to corticosterone, a principal glucocorticoid. In order to investigate the mechanism(s) underlying the neuroprotective effects of TGP, intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) level, reduced glutathione (GSH) content, malondialdehyde (MDA) content, superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity, catalase (CAT) activity, and neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) protein and mRNA levels were measured in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells, with or without TGP treatment.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Drugs and chemical reagents

TGP was supplied by Ningbo Liwah Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Zhejiang, China). 2',7'-Dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFH-DA) was obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). 5,5-Dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid, corticosterone and DMEM culture medium were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Fetal bovine serum, heat-inactivated horse serum, penicillin and streptomycin were purchased from Gibco (Grand Island, NY, USA). All other chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade.

5.2.2 Cell culture and treatment

PC12 cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA). They were maintained in DMEM medium supplemented with penicillin (100 unit/mL), streptomycin (100 μ g/mL), 6% fetal bovine serum and 6% horse serum at 37 °C in humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂. The experimental design contained five treatment groups: non-treated control, 200 μ M corticosterone and 200 μ M corticosterone plus TGP (1, 5 or 10 mg/L). The cells were seeded onto 96-well culture plate at 2×10⁴ cells/well, unless otherwise specified. The cells were stabilized at 37 °C for 48 hours. Then they were cultured in serum-free medium and incubated with corresponding drugs for another 48 hours.

5.2.3 Cell viability assay

Cell viability was measured by a CellTiter $96^{\ensuremath{\circledast}}$ AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation (MTS) Assay (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Briefly, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution after drug treatment. Then 100 µL of serum-free medium and 20 µL of MTS were added into each well. The cells were incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour. The quantity of formazan product, which is directly proportional to the number of living cells, was measured by a microplate reader at 490 nm. Cell viability was expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.4 Trypan blue exclusion assay

Cell viability was also measured by trypan blue exclusion assay according to the method of Cho et al. (2009). Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded in 6-well culture plates at a density of 2×10^6 cells/well. At the end of drug treatment, the cells were suspended. After centrifugation at 600 g for 6 min, cells were resuspended in 200 µL of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The total cell suspension was mixed with 200 µL of 0.4% trypan blue staining solution for 5 min at room temperature. The cells were then loaded into a

hemocytometer, and those exhibiting dye uptake were counted under a microscope. The percentage of stained cells was counted by scoring 150 cells. Cell viability was expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.5 Cytotoxicity assay

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release was measured as an in vitro marker for cellular toxicity. LDH activity was measured using a LDH diagnostic kit (STANBIO Laboratory, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded in 24-well culture plates at a density of 1×10^5 cells/well. At the end of drug treatment, the medium was collected. Subsequently, 100 µL of medium was added to a polystyrene cuvet containing 1000 µL of LDH reagent (50 mM lactate, 7 mM NAD⁺ in 0.05% sodium azide buffer pH = 8.9). The cuvet was placed immediately into the spectrophotometer, maintained at 30 °C. After stabilization for 1 min, absorbance at 340 nm was recorded at 1 min intervals for 3 min. The change in absorbance was then expressed in concentration units per liter. To determine intra-cellular LDH activity, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution, then scraped from the plates into 500 µL ice cold PBS (0.1M, containing 0.05mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate was centrifuged (4000 g) at 4 °C for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were collected for assay of the LDH activity. LDH leakage was expressed as the percentage (%) of the total LDH activity (LDH in the medium+ LDH in the cell), according to the equation %LDH released = (LDH activity in the medium/total LDH activity) $\times 100$.

5.2.6 Measurement of intracellular ROS level

The Intracellular ROS level was measured using the 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCFH-DA) method (Yokozawa et al., 2007). DCFH-DA is a nonfluorescent compound, and it can be enzymatically converted to highly fluorescent compound, DCF, in the presence of ROS. Briefly, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution after drug treatment. Then the cells were incubated with DCFH-DA at a final concentration of 10 μ M for 30 min at 37 °C in darkness. After the cells were washed twice with D-Hanks solution to remove the extracellular DCFH-DA, the fluorescence intensity of DCF was measured in a microplate reader at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 538 nm. The ROS level was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.7 Measurement of MDA content

MDA content was measured as previously described (Ohkawa et al., 1979) using thiobarbituric acid. Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded onto 6-well culture plate at a 2×10^6 cells /well. At the end of drug treatment, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution, then scraped from the plates into 500 µL ice cold PBS (0.1 M, containing 0.05 mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate was centrifuged (4000 g) at 4 °C for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were stored at -80 °C until assay. An aliquot (100 µL) of supernatant was mixed with 1500 µL acetic acid (20% [v/v], pH 3.5), 1500 µL thiobarbituric acid (0.8%, w/v) and 200 µL sodium dodecyl sulfate (8%, w/v). Each reaction mixture was heated at 95 °C for 60min and cooled to room temperature. Next, 5000 µL of n-butanol was added. After mixing and centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 min, the organic layer was collected and the absorbance measured at 532 nm. The MDA level was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.8 Measurement of GSH content

GSH content was measured as previously described (Gulati et al., 2007). Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded onto 100-mm² dish at 5×10^{6} cells /dish. At the end of drug treatment, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution, then scraped from the dishes into 500 µL ice cold PBS (0.1 M, containing 0.05 mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate was centrifuged (4000 g) at 4 °C for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were stored at -80 °C until assay. An aliquot (100 µL) of supernatant was mixed with 200 µL trichloroacetic acid (25%, v/v) and 200 µL saline. The mixture was centrifuged (3000 g) for 10 min at 4 °C. 200 µL of supernatant was mixed with 1000 µL phosphate buffer (100 mM, pH 8.0) and 50 µl 5,5-Dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid (3 mM). The solution was held at room temperature for 5 min and the absorbance measured at 412 nm. The GSH level was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.9 Measurement of SOD activity

SOD activity was measured using a SOD activity assay kit (BioVision, Mountain View, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded onto 100-mm^2 dish at 5 ×10⁶ cells /dish. At the end of drug treatment, the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution, then scraped from the dishes into 500 µL ice cold PBS (0.1 M, containing 0.05 mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate was centrifuged (4000 g) at 4 °C for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were stored at -80 °C until assay. 20 µl of supernatant was added with 200 µL of water soluble tetrazolium working solution and 20 µL of enzyme working solution into a 96-well plate. After incubating the plate at 37 °C for 20 min, the absorbance at 450 nm was read using a microplate reader. The SOD activity was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.10 Measurement of CAT activity

CAT activity was measured according to the method of Shen et al. (2009). Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded onto 100-mm² dish at 5×10^{6} cells /dish. At the end of drug treatment,

the cells were washed with D-Hanks solution, then scraped from the dishes into 500 μ L ice cold PBS (0.1 M, containing 0.05 mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate was centrifuged (4000 g) at 4 °C for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were stored at -80 °C until assay. 50 μ l of supernatant was mixed with 1950 μ L phosphate buffer (0.05 M, pH 7.0) and 1000 μ L hydrogen peroxide (0.019 M). The activity of CAT was estimated by the decrease of absorbency at 240 nm for 2 min. The CAT activity was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.11 Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels

BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA levels were measured using TaqMan real-time reverse transcription-PCR analysis. Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded onto 100-mm^2 dish at 5 $\times 10^6$ cells /dish. The cells were washed with D-Hanks solution after drug treatment. Total RNA from the cells was isolated with TRIzol Reagent (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Concentrations of extracted RNA were calculated from the absorbance at 260 nm. The quality of RNA was assessed by absorbances at 260 nm and 280 nm, with the ratio of A₂₆₀ to A₂₈₀ ranging from 1.9 to 2.1 being acceptable. Total RNA (1.5 µg) was transcribed using a High Capacity cDNA

Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Assays-on-Demand primers for BDNF (Rn02531967_s1), NGF (Rn01533872_m1), NT-3 (Rn00579280_m1) and β-actin (Rn00667869_m1) were purchased from Applied Biosystems, Inc (Foster City, CA). Real-time quantitative PCR analysis was performed with a TaqMan[®] Fast Universal PCR Master Mix Kit (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) by using StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) with the following profile: 2 min hold at 50 °C, 10 min hold at 95 °C, followed by 60 cycles of 15 sec at 95 °C and 1 min at 60 °C. Sequence Detection Software 2.0 (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA) was used for data analysis. The relative expression of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 mRNA was normalized to the amount of β-actin in the same cDNA using the relative quantification method ($2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method) as described by the manufacturer.

5.2.12 Measurement of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein levels

PC12 cells were seeded onto 100-mm² dish at 5 ×10⁶ cells /dish. At the end of drug treatment, the cells were washed with D-Hanks, then scraped from the plates into 500 μ L ice cold PBS (0.1 M, containing 0.05 mM EDTA) and homogenized. The homogenate

was centrifuged at 4 °C at 10,000 g for 30 min. The resulting supernatants were used for BDNF, NGF and NT-3 assays.

Protein levels of BDNF were measured using a commercially available sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples and serial dilutions of BDNF standard (0-500 pg/mL) were applied in duplicate into 96-well immunoplates precoated with rabbit anti-human BDNF antibody and incubated on a shaker overnight at 4 °C. After washing four times, biotinylated mouse anti-human BDNF antibody was added and incubated for 3 h at room temperature. Then streptavidin-HRP conjugate solution was added and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour after washing. TMB/E substrate was added and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance recorded at 450 nm immediately. BDNF concentration was determined from the regression line for the BDNF standard curve incubated under similar conditions. The detection limit of the assay is ~ 7.8 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (NGF, Neurotrophin-3 and Neurotrophin-4) was considered nil. BDNF concentration was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

Protein levels of NGF were measured using a two-site ELISA kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 96-well immunoplates were coated with anti-NGF pAb (capture Ab). After an overnight incubation at 4 °C, the plate was blocked with Block and Sample Buffer for 1 h. Then samples and serial dilutions of NGF standard (0-250 pg/mL) were added in duplicate after washing and then shaken for 6 h at room temperature. After three washes, the detection antibody anti-NGF mAb was added and incubated overnight at 4 °C. After the incubation of anti-rat IgG HRP-conjugate for 2.5 h at room temperature and with orbital shaking, the substrate TMB one solution as added. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance recorded at 450 nm within 30 minutes. NGF concentrations were determined, from the regression line for the NGF standard incubated under similar conditions. The detection limit of the assay is ~ 7.8 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (BDNF, Neurotrophin-3 and Neurotrophin-4) was less than 3%. NGF concentration was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

Protein levels of NT-3 were measured using a two-site ELISA kit (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 96-well immunoplates were

coated with anti-NT-3 pAb (capture Ab). After an overnight incubation at 4 °C, the plate was blocked with Block and Sample Buffer for 1 h. Then samples and serial dilutions of NGF standard (0-300 pg/mL) were added after washing and then shaken for 6 h at room temperature. After three washes, the detection antibody anti-NT-3 mAb was added and incubated overnight at 4 °C. After the incubation of anti-rat IgG HRP-conjugate for 2.5 h at room temperature and with orbital shaking, the substrate TMB one solution as added. The reaction was stopped with 1 M hydrochloric acid and absorbance recorded at 450 nm. NT-3 concentrations were determined, from the regression line for the NT-3 standard incubated under similar conditions. The detection limit of the assay is ~ 9.4 pg/mL, and the cross-reactivity with other related neurotrophic factors (BDNF, NGF and Neurotrophin-4) was less than 3%. NT-3 concentration was normalized to the protein concentration of each sample and expressed as a percentage of non-treated control.

5.2.13 Measurement of protein concentration

The protein content was measured according to the method of Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951) using bovine serum albumin as standard.

5.2.14 Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. The GraphPad Prism software (version 4.0) was used to perform the statistics (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's test was used to test the differences between the groups. Difference was considered statistically significant when the value p< 0.05.

5.3.1 Effect of TGP on the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

According to the results of the MTS assay (Figure 5.1A), the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the cell viability (61%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (17%, 23% and 43% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group. In line with our MTS data, the results of the trypan blue assay revealed that TGP exerted protective effects against corticosterone-induced neuronal cell death in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5.1B). Compared to the control group, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the cell viability (70%). Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (26%, 48% and 62% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Figure 5.1 Effect of TGP on the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells. Cell viability was determined by the MTS reduction assay (A) and the trypan blue exclusion assay (B).

Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6-7). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*} p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.2 Effect of TGP on the LDH leakage in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

To further investigate the protective effects of TGP, the release of LDH test was performed. As shown in Figure 5.2, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant increase in the LDH leakage (513%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased the cell viability in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (18%, 32% and 40% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Figure 5.2 Effect of TGP on the LDH leakage in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; *p <0.05, ** p <0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.3 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

As shown in Figure 5.3, treating PC12 cells with corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant increase in the intracellular level of ROS (95%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly decreased intracellular ROS level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (18%, 24% and 34% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Figure 5.3 Effect of TGP on intracellular ROS level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6).

" p < 0.01 as compared to the control; " p < 0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.4 Effects of TGP on MDA content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

As shown in Figure 5.4, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant increase in the content of MDA (114%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly decreased MDA content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (14%, 25% and 32% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Figure 5.4 Effect of TGP on MDA content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells. Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). * p < 0.01 as compared to the control; ** p < 0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.5 Effects of TGP on GSH content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

As shown in Figure 5.5, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the content of GSH (58%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased GSH content in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (29%, 50% and 68% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



corticosterone group.

5.3.6 Effects of TGP on SOD activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

As shown in Figure 5.6, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the activity of SOD (60%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased SOD activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (32%, 45% and 52% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; $p^* < 0.05$, $p^{**} < 0.01$ as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.7 Effects of TGP on CAT activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

As shown in Figure 5.7, the exposure to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the activity of CAT (57%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased CAT activity in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (37% and 41% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p <0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*}p <0.05, ^{**} p <0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.8 Effect of TGP on BDNF protein and mRNA levels in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

The protein level of BDNF in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 µM for 48 h was significantly decreased (35%), as compared to the control (Figure 5.8A). Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased BDNF protein level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (25%, 35% and 39% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group. Similar results were found in BDNF mRNA level (Figure 5.8B). The mRNA level of BDNF in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 µM for 48 h was significantly decreased (43%), as compared to the control. Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased BDNF mRNA level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (23%, 38% and 45% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.





5.3.9 Effect of TGP on NGF protein and mRNA levels in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

The protein level of NGF in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h was significantly decreased (53%), as compared to the control (Figure 5.9A). Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased NGF protein level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (25%, 44% and 50% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group. The mRNA level of NGF in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h was significantly decreased (56%), as compared to the control (Figure 5.9B). Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased NGF mRNA level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (29%, 59% and 69% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



Values given are the mean \pm SEMs (n = 6). [#] p < 0.01 as compared to the control; ^{*}p < 0.05, ^{**} p < 0.01 as compared to the corticosterone group.

5.3.10 Effect of TGP on NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells

The protein level of NT-3 in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h was significantly decreased (42%), as compared to the control (Figure 5.10A). Co-treatment with TGP (5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased NT-3 protein level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (42% and 50% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group. The mRNA level of NT-3 in PC12 cells when exposed to corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h was significantly decreased (46%), as compared to the control (Figure 5.10B). Co-treatment with TGP (1, 5 and 10 mg/L) significantly increased NT-3 mRNA level in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells (27%, 45% and 51% respectively), as compared to the corticosterone group.



corticosterone group.

5.4 Discussion

The hippocampus is one of the brain structures that is important for emotional and cognitive function. Recent clinical studies have demostrated that depression was closely associated with reduced hippocampal volumes, and there was a positive correlation between the hippocampus atrophy and the time course of depression (Li et al., 2003b; MacQueen et al., 2003; Saylam et al., 2006). Postmortem analyses indicated a reduction in the neuronal cells in the hippocampus of patients with depression (Stockmeier et al., 2004). Preclinical studies also showed that the number of hippocampal neuronal cells were significantly decreased in depressive animals (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Magariños et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2003; Takuma et al., 2007). High corticosterone level is associated with pathological changes in the hippocampus in experimental depressive animals (Magariños and McEwen, 1995; Sapolsky, 2000; Murray et al., 2008). High concentration of corticosterone has also been shown to induce cytotoxicity in primary cultured hippocampal neurons and PC12 cells, which could be reversed by antidepressants (Gao et al., 2008; Li et al., 2003b and 2003c; Li et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2006a; Zhu et al., 2006b; Li et al., 2007). Consistent with those reports, the present study demonstrated that treatment of PC12 cells with high concentration of corticosterone (200

 μ M) for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the cell viability and increase in the LDH leakage, confirming its neurotoxicity in PC12 cells. TGP partly reversed these changes induced by corticosterone, supporting the antidepressant-like effect of TGP *in vivo*.

Oxidative stress, defined as a disturbance in the balance between the production of ROS and antioxidant defenses, has also been showed to be involved in the neuronal injury induced by corticosterone (Goodman et al., 1996; McIntosh et al., 1998a and 1998b; Schmidt et al., 2002; Zafir and Banu, 2009). It has been demonstrated that corticosterone treatment caused a significant increase in the production of ROS (Goodman et al., 1996; Zafir and Banu, 2009). Excessive ROS production can cause damages to major macromolecules in cells, including lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids (Niebrój-Dobosz et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2008), culminating in neuronal dysfunction and depression. MDA, a by-product of lipid peroxidation, is produced under oxidative stress, reflects oxidative damage of plasma membrane and resultant thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (Xiao et al., 2008). It has been reported that MDA level was increased in corticosterone-treated rat brain (Zafir and Banu, 2009), further providing evidence that corticosterone can induce The present study also found that treating PC12 cells of corticosterone oxidative stress. (200 µM) for 48 h caused a significant increase in the levels of intracellular ROS and

MDA. Co-treatment with TGP significantly decreased in the levels of intracellular ROS and MDA in a concentration-dependent manner. On the other hand, biological antioxidants are natural compounds which can prevent the uncontrolled formation of free radicals and activated oxygen species, or inhibit their reaction with biological structures (Yazdanparast et al., 2008). These compounds include antioxidative enzymes, such as SOD and CAT, and non-enzymatic antioxidants, such as GSH (Yazdanparast et al., 2008). SOD and CAT have been shown to directly catalyze the transformation of peroxides and superoxides to nontoxic species (Griendling and Ushio-Fukai, 2000). GSH, the most abundant natural antioxidant, also play a critical role in the anti-ROS defense system (Mueller et al., 2001). The efficiency of this antioxidant defense system is apparently weakened in depressive disorder (Lukash et al., 2002), resulting in ineffective scavenging of free radicals which may lead to tissue damages (Niebrój-Dobosz et al., 2004; Zhao et al., Corticosterone treatment also has been shown to cause impairment of antioxidant 2008). enzyme defenses and decrease in the content of GSH in rat brain and primary cultured hippocampal neurons (McIntosh et al., 1998a and 1998b; Schmidt et al., 2002; Zafir and Consistent with these observations, the present study showed that GSH Banu, 2009). activities significantly decreased level, SOD and CAT were in 200μM corticosterone-treated PC12 cells. Moreover, co-treatment with TGP at the doses of 1, 5

and 10 mg/L dose-dependently increased GSH level, SOD and CAT activities in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells.

BDNF, NGF and NT-3 belong to the family of neurotrophins, which modulate neuronal plasticity, inhibit cell death cascades and increase cell survival proteins that are responsible for proliferation and maintenance of central nervous system neurons (Huang et al., 2001; Blum and Konnerth, 2005; Topic et al., 2008; Huston et al., 2009). Interestingly, in recent years, it was also demonstrated that BDNF, NGF and NT-3 are all involved in the pathophysiology of depression (Nestler et al., 2002; Angelucci et al., 2003; von Richthofen et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2004a and b; Dwivedi et al., 2005; Karege et al., 2005b; Duman and Monteggia, 2006; Topic et al., 2008; Huston et al., 2009), and antidepressant treatment might exert their beneficial action by regulating synthesis and/or release of BDNF, NGF or NT-3 (Hellweg 2002; Angelucci et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007b; Song et al., 2009). Furthermore, it has been shown that corticosterone treatment caused a significant decrease in BDNF mRNA expression in rat brain, while antidepressants treatment significantly increased BDNF mRNA expression in corticosterone-treated rats (Dwivedi et al., 2006). Previous in vitro studies have also demonstrated that corticosterone treatment significantly decrease BDNF, NGF or NT-3

expression in primary cultured hippocampal neurons and PC12 cells, which could be reversed by antidepressants (Li et al., 2003c; Li et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2004; Li et al., 2007b). These data suggested that decreased BDNF, NGF or NT-3 expression may also be involved in the neuronal injury induced by corticosterone. Consistently, in the present study, treatment of PC12 cells with high concentration of corticosterone (200 μ M) for 48 h caused a significant decrease in the protein and mRNA levels of BDNF, NGF and NT-3, while treatment with TGP significantly increased BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein and mRNA levels in corticosterone-treated PC12 cells.

In conclusion, TGP treatment could dose-dependently protect against corticosterone-induced cell death in PC12 cells. The cytoprotection afforded by TGP treatment was associated with the inhibition of oxidative stress, and the up-regulation of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 protein and mRNA levels.

Chapter 6 General Discussion and Future Work

The present work is the first report describing the antidepressant-like effect of total glycosides of peony (TGP) and revealing its action mechanisms by using *in vitro and in vivo* models of depression.

The antidepressant-like effect of TGP was firstly evaluated by using forced swim, tail suspension and open-field tests. Forced swim and tail suspension tests are the widely used animal models of depression for antidepressant drug screening (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). Open-field test is designed to measure behavioral responses such as locomotor activity (Herrera-Ruiz et al., 2006). The results showed that intragastric administration of TGP caused a significant reduction of immobility time in both forced swim and tail suspension tests in mice. TGP treatment also significantly reduced the duration of immobility time in the forced swim test in rats. In addition, TGP treatment did not increase locomotor activity in the open-field test in both mice and rats, suggesting that the reduction of immobility time in the forced swim and tail suspension tests was unlikely due to a psychomotor-stimulant effect, but rather an antidepressant-like effect of TGP.

In order to further confirm the antidepressant-like effects of TGP, the antidepressant-like effect of TGP was investigated in a rat model induced by chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS). The CUMS-induced depression model is considered as the most promising and valuable rodent model to study depression in animals, mimicking several human depressive symptoms (Willner, 1997 and 2005). The results showed that a 5-week CUMS exposure caused depression-like behavior in rats, as indicated by the significant decreases in sucrose consumption (assessed by sucrose preference test) and locomotor activity (assessed by open-field test), and increase in immobility time (assessed by forced swim test). Intragastric administration of TGP during the five weeks of CUMS significantly suppressed these behavioral changes induced by CUMS, suggesting that TGP produce antidepressant-like effects in the CUMS-induced model in rats.

CUMS-induced depression model has been demonstrated to be suitable for studying the neurobiological basis of depression and the mechanisms of action of antidepressant drugs (Willner, 1997 and 2005). In addition, it has been suggested that neuronal atrophy and destruction in the hippocampus play a causal role in the development and progress of depression and protection against hippocampus damage may be an important therapeutic intervention of depression (Manji and Duman, 2001; Fuchs et al., 2004). Therefore,

whether TGP had neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats was investigated to throw light on the action mechanisms for the antidepressant-like effects of The results showed a 5-week CUMS exposure caused a significant decrease in the TGP. pyramidal neuronal cells in the hippocampal CA3 region. This damage was associated with the hyperactivation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis characterized by increased serum corticosterone level and decreased hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor (GR) expression, and increased oxidative stress and decreased neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) expression in the Treatment with TGP significantly increased the pyramidal neuronal cells hippocampus. in the hippocampal CA3 region of CUMS-treated rats, suggesting that TGP produce neuroprotective effects on the hippocampus of CUMS-treated rats. This effect was associated with the attenuation of HPA axis hyperactivation, and the inhibition of oxidative stress and the up-regulation of BDNF and NT-3 expression in the hippocampus.

Finally, the nuroprotective effects of TGP and the possible mechanisms were further investigated in corticosterone-treated rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells. Treatment of PC12 cell line with high concentration of corticosterone to simulate the hippocampal nuronal damage in depressive disorder, has been used as an *in vitro* experimental model of
depression. The results showed that treating PC12 cells with corticosterone at concentration of 200 μ M for 48 h caused cell death. The cytotoxicity was associated with an increased oxidative stress, and decreased neurotrophins such as BDNF, nerve growth factor (NGF) and NT-3 expression in the cells. TGP treatment protected against the corticosterone-induced toxicity in PC12 cells in a dose-dependent manner. The cytoprotection afforded by TGP treatment was likely associated with an enhancing antioxidant activity, as well as elevation of BDNF, NGF and NT-3 expressions.

In summary, the above findings results have demonstrated an antidepressant-like effects of TGP. The antidepressive action of TGP may be mediated by the modulation of the HPA axis function, the inhibition of oxidative stress, and the up-regulation of neurotrophins, thereby leading to the neuroprotective effects.

Future Work

1. To explore cellular and molecular mechanisms for the antidepressive action of TGP by using Knockout animals;

2. To evaluate the pharmacokinetics of TGP in normal and depressive animals;

3. To evaluate the toxicological profile of TGP.

Reference

Abe K (2001) Therapeutic potential of neurotrophic factors and neural stem cells against ischemic brain injury. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism 20: 1393-1408.

Adrien J, Dugovic C, Martin P (1991) Sleep–wakefulness patterns in the helpless rat. Physiology and Behavior 49: 257–262.

Alfonso J, Pollevick GD, Van Der Hart MG, Flügge G, Fuchs E, Frasch AC (2004) Identification of genes regulated by chronic psychosocial stress and antidepressant treatment in the hippocampus. European Journal of Neuroscience 19: 659-666.

Altar CA (1999) Neurotrophins and depression. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences 20: 59-61.

Aihara M, Ida I, Yuuki N, Oshima A, Kumano H, Takahashi K, Fukuda M, Oriuchi N, Endo K, Matsuda H, Mikuni M (2007) HPA axis dysfunction in unmedicated major depressive disorder and its normalization by pharmacotherapy correlates with alteration of neural activity in prefrontal cortex and limbic/paralimbic regions. Psychiatry Research 155: 245-256.

Anderson, DJ, Michelsohn A (1989) Role of glucocorticoids in the chromaffin-neuron developmental decision. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience 7: 75–87.

Anderson IM (1998) SSRIS versus tricyclic antidepressants in depressed inpatients: a meta-analysis of efficacy and tolerability. Depression and Anxiety Supplement: 11-17.

Anderson IM (2000) Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors versus tricyclic antidepressants: a meta-analysis of efficacy and tolerability. Journal of Affective Disorders 58: 19-36.

Angelucci F, Aloe L, Jiménez-Vasquez P, Mathé AA (2003) Lithium treatment alters brain concentrations of nerve growth factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in a rat model of depression. International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology 6: 225-231.

Aydemir C, Yalcin ES, Aksaray S, Kisa C, Yildirim SG, Uzbay T, Goka E (2006) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) changes in the serum of depressed women. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 30: 1256-1260.

Aydemir O, Deveci A, Taskin OE, Taneli F, Esen-Danaci A (2007) Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor level in dysthymia: a comparative study with major depressive disorder. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 31: 1023-1026.

Bachmann RF, Schloesser RJ, Gould TD, Manji HK (2005) Mood stabilizers target cellular plasticity and resilience cascades: implications for the development of novel therapeutics. Molecular Neurobiology 32: 173-202.

Barbui C, Guaiana G, Hotopf M (2004) Amitriptyline for inpatients and SSRIs for outpatients with depression? Systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Pharmacopsychiatry 37: 93-97.

Başterzi AD, Yazici K, Aslan E, Delialioğlu N, Taşdelen B, Acar ST, Yazici A (2009) Effects Of Fluoxetine And Venlafaxine On Serum Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor Levels In Depressed Patients. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 33: 281-285.

Baumeister AA, Hawkins MF, Uzelac SM (2003) The myth of reserpine-induced depression: role in the historical development of the monoamine hypothesis. Journal of the History of the Neurosciences 12: 207-220.

Beavis D (1998) Interaction between the irreversible MAOIs and certain foods. Australian Family Physician 28: 650, 652.

Beckman JS, Koppenol WH (1996) Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and ugly. American Journal of Physiology 271: C1424-C1437.

Blendy J.A (2006) The role of CREB in depression and antidepressant treatment. Biological Psychiatry 59: 1144–1150. Bidzinska EJ (1984) Stress factors in affective diseases. British Journal of Psychiatry 144: 161-166.

Bilia AR, Gallori S, Vincieri FF (2002) St John's wort and depression: Efficacy, safety and tolerability—An update. Life Sciences 70: 3077–3096.

Binfaré RW, Rosa AO, Lobato KR, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL (2009) Ascorbic acid administration produces an antidepressant-like effect: evidence for the involvement of monoaminergic neurotransmission. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 33: 530-540.

Blum R, Konnerth A (2005) Neurotrophin-mediated rapid signaling in the central nervous system: mechanisms and functions. Physiology 20: 70–78.

Bourin M, Fiocco AJ, Clenet F (2001) How valuable are animal models in defining antidepressant activity? Human Psychopharmacology 16: 9–21.

Bremner JD, Narayan M, Anderson ER, Staib LH, Miller HL, Charney DS (2000) Hippocampal volume reduction in major depression. American Journal of Psychiatry 157: 115-118.

Brommelhoff JA, Conway K, Merikangas K, Levy BR (2004) Higher rates of depression in women: role of gender bias within the family. Journal of Women's Health 13: 69-76.

Budziszewska B (2002) Effect of antidepressant drugs on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity and glucocorticoid receptor function. Polish Journal of Pharmacology 54: 343-349.

Calabrese EJ (2008) An assessment of anxiolytic drug screening tests: hormetic dose responses predominate. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 38: 489-542.

Campbell S, Macqueen G (2004) The role of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of major depression. Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience 29: 417-426.

Candy M, Jones L, Williams R, Tookman A, King M (2008) Psychostimulants for depression. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 16: CD006722.

Carbajal D, Ravelo Y, Molina V, Mas R, Arruzazabala Mde L (2009) D-004, a lipid extract from royal palm fruit, exhibits antidepressant effects in the forced swim test and the tail suspension test in mice. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 92: 465-468.

Cárdenas A, Moro MA, Hurtado O, Leza JC, Lizasoain I (2005) Dual role of nitric oxide in adult neurogenesis. Brain Research Reviews 50: 1-6.

Castrén E, Rantamäki T (2008) Neurotrophins in depression and antidepressant effects. Novartis Foundation Symposium 289: 43-59, 87-93.

Czéh B, Michaelis T, Watanabe T, Frahm J, de Biurrun G, van Kampen M, Bartolomucci A, Fuchs E (2001) Stress-induced changes in cerebral metabolites, hippocampal volume, and cell proliferation are prevented by antidepressant treatment with tianeptine. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98: 12796-12801.

Chan YS, Chen LW, Lai CH, Shum DK, Yung KK, Zhang FX (2003) Receptors of glutamate and neurotrophin in vestibular neuronal functions. Journal of Biomedical Science 10: 577-587.

Chang Y, Wei W, Zhang L, Xu HM (2009) Effects and mechanisms of total glucosides of paeony on synoviocytes activities in rat collagen-induced arthritis. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 121:43-48.

Chen G, Guo LX, Deng XH, Yin ZY, Jing JJ (2008) Effects of total glucosides of paeony on nitric oxide and inducible nitric oxide synthase production in macrophages and its mechanism. Chinese Journal of Immunology 24: 345-348.

Chen JX, Li W, Zhao X, Yang JX (2007) Effects of the Chinese traditional prescription Xiaoyaosan decoction on chronic immobilization stress-induced changes in behavior and brain BDNF, TrkB, and NT-3 in rats. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology 28: 745-755.

Cho ES, Jang YJ, Hwang MK, Kang NJ, Lee KW, Lee HJ (2009) Attenuation of oxidative neuronal cell death by coffee phenolic phytochemicals. Mutation Research 661: 18-24.

Colla M, Kronenberg G, Deuschle M, Meichel K, Hagen T, Bohrer M, Heuser I (2007) Hippocampal volume reduction and HPA-system activity in major depression. Journal of Psychiatric Research 41: 553-556.

Coyle JT, Puttfarcken P (1993) Oxidative stress, glutamate, and neurodegenerative disorders. Science 262: 689--695.

Cryan JF, Valentino RJ, Lucki I (2005) Assessing substrates underlying the behavioral effects of antidepressants using the modified rat forced swimming test. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 29: 547-569.

D'Aquila P, Brain PF, Willner P (1994) Effects of chronic mild stress in behavioural tests relevant to anxiety and depression. Physiology and Behavior 56: 861-867.

D'Aquila PS, Peana AT, Carboni V, Serra G (2000) Exploratory behaviour and grooming after repeated restraint and chronic mild stress: effect of desipramine. European Journal of Pharmacology 399: 43-47.

Department of Health, Hong Kong SAR (2008) Hong Kong Chinese Materia Medica Standards, Volume 2. Department of Health, Hong Kong SAR, pp. 187-196.

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual IV (2000) American Psychiatric Press, Washington, D.C., USA.

Dohare P, Garg P, Jain V, Nath C, Ray M (2008) Dose dependence and therapeutic window for the neuroprotective effects of curcumin in thromboembolic model of rat. Behavioural Brain Research 193: 289-297.

Dong XH, Liu YP, Zhao W, Yin XM (2003) Effect of TGP on lipid regulation and lipsuperoxidized reaction in chronic hyperlipidmic rabbits. Journal of Hubei Institute For Nationalities Medical Edition 20: 15-17.

Drzyzga ŁR, Marcinowska A, Obuchowicz E (2009) Antiapoptotic and neurotrophic effects of antidepressants: a review of clinical and experimental studies. Brain Research Bulletin 79: 248–257.

Duman RS, Monteggia LM (2006) A neurotrophic model for stressrelated mood disorders. Biological Psychiatry 59: 1116–1127.

Dwivedi Y, Mondal AC, Rizavi HS, Conley RR (2005) Suicide brain is associated with decreased expression of neurotrophins. Biological Psychiatry 58: 315–324.

Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Pandey GN (2006) Antidepressants reverse corticosterone-mediated decrease in brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression: differential regulation of specific exons by antidepressants and corticosterone. Neuroscience 139: 1017-1029.

Fang F, Wu YG, Dong J, Ren KJ, Qi XM, Liang C, Zhang W (2008) Effects of total glucosides of paeony on oxidative stress in renal tissue of diabetic rats. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 22: 199-204.

Ferguson SM, Brodkin JD, Lloyd GK, Menzaghi F (2000) Antidepressant-like effects of the subtype-selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist, SIB-1508Y, in the learned helplessness rat model of depression. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 152: 295-303.

Foreman PJ, Taglialatela G, Angelucci L, Turner CP, Perez-Polo JR (1993) Nerve growth factor and p75NGFR factor receptor mRNA change in rodent CNS following stress activation of the hypothalamo–pituitary– adrenocortical axis. Journal of Neuroscience Research 36: 10–18.

Frodl T, Schüle C, Schmitt G, Born C, Baghai T, Zill P, Bottlender R, Rupprecht R, Bondy B, Reiser M, Möller HJ, Meisenzahl EM (2007) Association of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism with reduced hippocampal volumes in major depression. Archives of General Psychiatry 64: 410-416.

Fu Q, Ma SP, Qu R (2005) Antidepressant Effect of Banxiahouputang II: Antidepressant Effect of Banxiahouputang on Chronic Unpredictable Stress Model. Chinese Journal of Natural Medicines 3: 112-115.

Fuchs E (2005) Social stress in tree shrews as an animal model of depression: an example of a behavioral model of a CNS disorder. CNS Spectrums 10: 182-190.

Fuchs E, Czéh B, Kole MH, Michaelis T, Lucassen PJ (2004) Alterations of neuroplasticity in depression: the hippocampus and beyond. European Neuropsychopharmacology 5: S481-490.

Gao BB, Dai LM, Xu SY (1996) Effects of Study of scavenging action of total glucosides of mudan cortex and total glucosides of paeonia on Longyanshen on oxygenfree radicals. Acta Academiae Medicinae Weifang 18: 43-46.

Gao CK, Wu Y, Wang Y, Yan J, Pan HX, Cao LY, Ling RY (2002) Anti-Inflammatory and Analgesic Effects of Total Glucosides of Paeonia Injection. Traditional Chinese Drug Research and Clinical Pharmacology 13: 163-165,169.

Gao M, Zhou H, Li X (2008) Curcumin protects PC12 cells from corticosterone-induced cytotoxicity: possible involvement of the ERK1/2 pathway. Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology 104: 236-240.

Gasic GP, Hollmann M (1992) Molecular neurobiology of glutamate receptors. Annual Review of Physiology 54: 507–536.

Geier DA, Kern JK, Garver CR, Adams JB, Audhya T, Geier MR (2009) A prospective study of transsulfuration biomarkers in autistic disorders. Neurochemical Research 34: 386-393.

Geyer MA, Markou A (1995) Animal models of psychiatric disorders. Psychopharmacology: the fourth generation of progress. New York: Raven Press: 787–798.

Gilbert SF (2006) Developmental Biology (Eighth Edition). Hardcover, Sinauer Associates Inc.

Goodman Y, Bruce AJ, Cheng B, Mattson MP (1996) Estrogens attenuate and corticosterone exacerbates excitotoxicity, oxidative injury, and amyloid beta-peptide toxicity in hippocampal neurons. Journal of Neurochemistry 66: 1836-1844.

Griendling KK, Ushio-Fukai M (2000) Reactive oxygen species as mediators of angiotensin II signaling. Regulatory peptides 91: 21-27.

Gulati K, Chakraborti A, Ray A (2007) Modulation of stress-induced neurobehavioral changes and brain oxidative injury by nitric oxide (NO) mimetics in rats. Behavioural Brain Research 183: 226-230.

Hall CS (1934) Emotional behavior in the rat: I. Defecation and urination as measures of individual differences in emotionality. Journal of Comparative Psychology. 18: 385-403.

Hajós M, Fleishaker JC, Filipiak-Reisner JK, Brown MT, Wong EH (2004) The selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor antidepressant reboxetine: pharmacological and clinical profile. CNS Drug Reviews 10: 23-44.

Hammen C (2005) Stress and depression. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology 1: 293-319.

Hartmann PM (1999) Mirtazapine: a newer antidepressant. American Family Physician 59: 159-161.

Hashimoto K (2009) Emerging role of glutamate in the pathophysiology of major depressive disorder. Brain Research Reviews 61: 105-123.

Hassel B, Dingledine R (2006) Basic Neurochemistry Molecular, Cellular, and Medical Aspects-Seventh Edition. Elsevier Academic Press, Burlington, MA, pp: 267–290.

He LN, Yang J, He SB (2000a) Effect of total paeony glycoside and its mechanism on calcium overloading injury in cultured PC12 cells. Chinese Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 5: 120-123.

He LN, Yang J, He SB, Wang J, Liu C (2000b) Protective effect of total paeony glocoside against ischemia injury in cultured primary cortex neurons. Chinese Journal of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics 5: 28-31.

Hellweg R, Lang UE, Nagel M, Baumgartner A (2002) Subchronic treatment with lithium increases nerve growth factor content in distinct brain regions of adult rats. Molecular Psychiatry 7: 604-608.

Herrera-Ruiz M, García-Beltrán Y, Mora S, Díaz-Véliz G, Viana GS, Tortoriello J, Ramírez G. (2006) Antidepressant and anxiolytic effects of hydroalcoholic extract from Salvia elegans. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 107: 53-58.

Himmerich H, Zimmermann P, Ising M, Kloiber S, Lucae S, Kunzel HE, Binder EB, Holsboer F, Uhr M (2007) Changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and leptin levels during antidepressant treatment. Neuropsychobiology 55: 28-35.

Hodara R, Norris EH, Giasson BI, Mishizen-Eberz AJ, Lynch DR, Lee VM, Ischiropoulos H (2004) Functional consequences of alpha-synuclein tyrosine nitration: diminished binding to lipid vesicles and increased fibril formation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279: 47746-47753.

Hollister LE (1978) Treatment of depression with drugs. Annals of Internal Medicine 89: 78-84.

Hu SY, Zhang CH, Cao MQ, Peng GJ, Huang CY (2006) Anti-dpressive effect of Baisong tablets on the chronic mild unpredicted stress depression in rats. Journal of Central South University (Medical Sciences) 31: 676-681.

Huang EJ, Reichardt LF (2001) Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annual Review of Neuroscience 24: 677-736.

Humar M, Graetz C, Roesslein M, Goebel U, Geiger KK, Heimrich B, Pannen BH (2009) Heterocyclic thioureylenes protect from calcium-dependent neuronal cell death. Molecular Pharmacology 75: 667-676.

Huston JP, Schulz D, Topic B (2009) Toward an animal model of extinction-induced despair: focus on aging and physiological indices. Journal of Neural Transmission 116: 1029-1036.

Hypericum Depression Trial Study Group (2002) Effect of Hypericum perforatum (St. John's wort) in major depressive disorder: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of the American Medical Association 287: 1807–1814.

Ibarguen-Vargas Y, Surget A, Vourc'h P, Leman S, Andres CR, Gardier AM, Belzung C (2009) Deficit in BDNF does not increase vulnerability to stress but dampens antidepressant-like effects in the unpredictable chronic mild stress. Behavioural Brain Research 202: 245-251.

Isaac MT (2008) Treating depression with SNRIs: who will benefit most?. CNS Spectrums 13: 15-21.

Jesberger JA, Richardson JS (1984) Animal models of depression: parallels and correlates to severe depression in humans. Biological Psychiatry 20: 764-784.

Jia XY, Wei W, Zheng YQ, Zhu L (2006) Effect of total glucosides of paeony on Bbcl-2,Bax expression in rats of synovial tissue with collagen-induced arthritis. Acta Universitatis Medicinalis Anhui 41: 143-146.

Jing WJ, Wang Q, Li XN, Zhang LT (2006) Research progress on the pharmacological activities and quality control of total glycosides of peony. Journal of Heibei Medical University 27: 500-502.

Johnson SA, Fournier NM, Kalynchuk LE (2006) Effect of different doses of corticosterone on depression-like behavior and HPA axis responses to a novel stressor. Behavioral Brain Research 2: 280-288.

Karege F, Perret G, Bondolfi G, Schwald M, Bertschy G, Aubry JM (2002) Decreased serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in major depressed patients. Psychiatry Research 109: 143-148.

Karege F, Vaudan G, Schwald M, Perroud N, La Harpe R (2005) Neurotrophin levels in postmortem brains of suicide victims and the effects of antemortem diagnosis and psychotropic drugs. Brain research. Molecular brain research (Brain Res Mol Brain Res) 136: 29-37.

Kaster MP, Raupp I, Binfaré RW, Andreatini R, Rodrigues AL (2007) Antidepressant-like effect of lamotrigine in the mouse forced swimming test: evidence for the involvement of the noradrenergic system. European Journal of Pharmacology 565: 119-124.

Katz RJ, Roth KA, Schmaltz K (1981) Amphetamine and tranylcypromine in an animal model of depression: pharmacological specificity of the reversal effect. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 5: 259-264.

Katz RJ, Schmaltz K (1980) Dopaminergic involvement in attention, a novel animal model. Progess in Neuro-psychopharmacol 4: 585–590.

Kent JM (2000) SNaRIs, NaSSAs, and NaRIs: new agents for the treatment of depression. Lancet 355: 911-918.

Kessler RC (1997) The effects of stressful life events on depression. Annual Review of Psychology 48: 191–214.

Kim JS, Schmid-Burgk W, Claus D, Kornhuber HH (1982) Increased serum glutamate in depressed patients. Archiv für Psychiatrie und Nervenkrankheiten 232: 299-304.

Koenig AM, Thase ME (2009) First-line pharmacotherapies for depression - what is the best choice?. Polskie Archiwum Medycyny Wewnetrznej 119: 478-486.

Kyle CJ, Petersen HE, Overø KF (1998) Comparison of the tolerability and efficacy of citalopram and amitriptyline in elderly depressed patients treated in general practice. Depression and Anxiety 8: 147-153.

Lang UE, Anders D, Danker-Hopfe H, Hellweg R (2004a) Measurement of nerve growth factor serum concentration in a psychologically stressful situation in men. Stress 7: 39–42.

Lang UE, Hellweg R, Gallinat J (2004b) BDNF serum concentrations in healthy volunteers are associated with depression-related personality traits. Neuropsychopharmacology 29: 795–798.

Lange C, Irle E (2004) Enlarged amygdala volume and reduced hippocampal volume in young women with major depression. Psychological Medicine 34: 1059-1064.

Lanni C, Govoni S, Lucchelli A, Boselli C (2009) Depression and antidepressants: molecular and cellular aspects. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 66: 2985-3008.

Law et al (2001) Say NO to Alzheimer's disease: the putative links between nitric oxide and dementia of the Alzheimer's type. Brain Research Reviews 35: 73–96.

Lee AL, Ogle WO, Sapolsky RM (2002) Stress and depression: possible links to neuron death in the hippocampus. Bipolar Disorder 4: 117-128.

Li HC, Chen QZ, Qian L (2007a) Chronic mild stress stimulates nitric oxide production in rat brain cortex and hippocampus. Journal of Zhejiang University (Medical Sciences) 36: 150-154.

Li J, Liang JS, Zhou AW (1994) Modulatory effects of total gluco sides of paeony on B lymphocyte proliferation and interleukin-1 production. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 8: 53-54.

Li S, Wang C, Wang M, Li W, Matsumoto K, Tang Y (2007b) Antidepressant like effects of piperine in chronic mild stress treated mice and its possible mechanisms. Life Sciences 15: 1373-1381.

Li YF, Gong ZH, Cao JB, Wang HL, Luo Z., Li J (2003a) Antidepressant-like effect of agmatine and its possible mechanism. European Journal of Pharmacology 469: 81–88.

Li YF, Gong ZH, Yang M, Zhao YM, Luo ZP (2003b) Inhibition of the oligosaccharides extracted from Morinda officinalis, a Chinese traditional herbal medicine, on the corticosterone induced apoptosis in PC12 cells. Life Sciences 8: 933-942.

Li YF, Liu YQ, Huang WC, Luo ZP (2003c) Cytoprotective effect is one of common action pathways for antidepressants. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 10: 996-1000.

Li YF, Liu YQ, Yang M, Wang HL, Huang WC, Zhao YM, Luo ZP (2004) The cytoprotective effect of inulin-type hexasaccharide extracted from Morinda officinalis on PC12 cells against the lesion induced by corticosterone. Life Sciences 13: 1531-1538.

Liang X, Yan Ni Huang, Si Wei Chen, Wen Juan Wang, Xu N, Cui S, Liu XH, Zhang H, Yue Nan Liu, Liu S, Yang M, Dong Y (2008) Antidepressant-like effect of asiaticoside in mice. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 89: 444-449.

Linde K, Mulrow CD, Berner M, Egger M (2003) St John's wort for depression. Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews 2: CD000448.

Liu J, Jin DZ, Xiao L, Zhu XZ (2006) Paeoniflorin attenuates chronic cerebral hypoperfusion-induced learning dysfunction and brain damage in rats. Brain Research 1089: 162-170.

Liu W, Wu HP, Zhu XG, Ming L (2004) Protective effect of TGP on complete cerebral ischemia reperfusion injury in rats. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 20: 214-217.

Liu W, Wu HP, Zhu XG, Ming L, Dong SY, Tong XH (2001) Protective effect of TGP on acute cerebral ischemia in mice and rats. Acta Universitis Medicinalis Nahui 36: 186-188.

Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein measurement with folin phenol reagent. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 193: 265-275.

Lucassen PJ, Müller MB, Holsboer F, Bauer J, Holtrop A, Wouda J, Hoogendijk WJ, De Kloet ER, Swaab DF (2001) Hippocampal apoptosis in major depression is a minor event and absent from subareas at risk for glucocorticoid overexposure. American Journal of Pathology 158: 453-468.

Lucca G, Comim CM, Valvassori SS, Réus GZ, Vuolo F, Petronilho F, Dal-Pizzol F, Gavioli EC, Quevedo J (2009) Effects of chronic mild stress on the oxidative parameters in the rat brain. Neurochemistry International 54: 358-362.

Lukash AI, Zaika VG, Kucherenko AO, Miliutina NP (2002) Free radical processes and antioxidant system in depression and treatment efficiency. Zhurnal nevrologii i psikhiatrii imeni S.S. Korsakova 102: 41-44.

Luo DD, An SC, Zhang X (2008) Involvement of hippocampal serotonin and neuropeptide Y in depression induced by chronic unpredicted mild stress. Brain Research Bulletin 77: 8-12.

Luo HC, Qian RQ, Zhao XY, Bi J, Xin H, Jiang X, Xu K, Yan S (2006) Clinical observation on effect of danzhi xiaoyao powder in treating depression. Chinese Journal of Integrated Traditional and Western Medicine 26: 212–214.

Luoni L, Bonza MC, De Michelis MI (2000) $H(^+)/Ca(^{2+})$ exchange driven by the plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase of Arabidopsis thaliana reconstituted in proteoliposomes after calmodulin-affinity purification. FEBS Letters 482: 225-230.

MacQueen GM, Campbell S, McEwen BS, Macdonald K, Amano S, Joffe RT, Nahmias C, Young LT (2003) Course of illness, hippocampal function, and hippocampal volume in major depression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100: 1387-1392.

Magariños AM, McEwen BS (1995) Stress-induced atrophy of apical dendrites of hippocampal CA3 neurons: involvement of glucocorticoid secretion and excitatory amino acid receptors. Neuronscience 1: 89-98.

Magariños AM, Deslandes A, McEwen BS (1999) Effects of antidepressants and benzodiazepine treatments on the dendritic structure of CA3 pyramidal neurons after chronic stress. European Journal of Pharmacology 371: 113-122.

Maier SF, Seligman MEP (1976) Learned helplessness: theory and evidence. Journal of Experimental Psychology 1: 3-46.

Manji HK, Drevets WC, Charney DS (2001) The cellular neurobiology of depression. Nature Medicine 7: 541-547.

Manji HK, Duman RS (2001) Impairments of neuroplasticity and cellular resilience in severe mood disorders: implications for the development of novel therapeutics. Psychopharmacology Bulletin 35: 45–49.

Mark LP, Prost RW, Ulmer JL, Smith MM, Daniels DL, Strottmann JM, Brown WD, Hacein-Bey L (2001) Pictorial review of glutamate excitotoxicity: fundamental concepts for neuroimaging. American Journal of Neuroradiology 22: 1813–1824.

Mao QQ, Huang Z, Ip SP, Che CT (2008) Antidepressant-like effect of ethanol extract from Paeonia lactiflora in mice. Phytotherapy Research 22: 1496-1499.

Mauri MC, Ferrara A, Boscati L, Bravin S, Zamberlan F, Alecci M, Invernizzi G (1998) Plasma and platelet amino acid concentrations in patients affected by major depression and under fluvoxamine treatment. Neuropsychobiology 37: 124-129.

McArthur R, Borsini F (2006) Animal models of depression in drug discovery: A historical perspective. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior 84: 436–452.

McEwen BS (2001) Plasticity of the hippocampus: adaptation to chronic stress and allostatic load. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 933: 265-277.

McGrath PJ, Stewart JW, Nunes EV, Ocepek-Welikson K, Rabkin JG, Quitkin FM, Klein DF (1993) A double-blind crossover trial of imipramine and phenelzine for outpatients with treatment-refractory depression. American Journal of Psychiatry 150: 118-123.

McIntosh LJ, Cortopassi KM, Sapolsky RM (1998a) Glucocorticoids may alter antioxidant enzyme capacity in the brain: kainic acid studies. Brain Research 791: 215-222.

McIntosh LJ, Hong KE, Sapolsky RM (1998b) Glucocorticoids may alter antioxidant enzyme capacity in the brain: baseline studies. Brain Research 791: 209-214.

Ming L, Ma CG, Zhang Y, Fang M, Ceng DY, Xu SY (1993) Effects of total glucosides of paeony root on learning and memory behavior in mice. Acta Universitis Medicinalis Nahui 28: 19-22.

Mitani H, Shirayama Y, Yamada T, Maeda K, Ashby CR Jr, Kawahara R (2006) Correlation between plasma levels of glutamate, alanine and serine with severity of depression. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 30: 1155-1158.

Molina-Hernández M, Tellez-Alcántara NP, Pérez-García J, Olivera-Lopez JI, Jaramillo-Jaimes MT (2008) Antidepressant-like actions of minocycline combined with several glutamate antagonists. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 32: 380-386.

Monteggia LM, Luikart B, Barrot M, Theobold D, Malkovska I, Nef S, Parada LF, Nestler EJ (2007) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor conditional knockouts show gender differences in depression-related behaviors. Biological Psychiatry 61: 187-197.

Mora S, Millán R, Lungenstrass H, Díaz-Véliz G, Morán JA, Herrera-Ruiz M, Tortoriello J (2006) The hydroalcoholic extract of Salvia elegans induces anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in rats. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 106: 76-81.

Moreno-Lo'pez B, Noval J.A, Gonza'lez-Bonet LG, Estrada C (2000) Morphological bases for a role of nitric oxide in adult neurogenesis. Brain Research 869: 244–250.

Mueller SG, Trabesinger AH, Boesiger P, Wieser HG (2001) Brain glutathione levels in patients with epilepsy measured by in vivo ¹H-MRS. Neurology 57: 1422-1427.

Mueller TI, Leon AC (1996) Recovery, chronicity, and levels of psychopathology in major depression. Psychiatric Clinics of North America 19: 85–102.

Murray CJ, Lopez AD (1996) The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Murray F, Smith DW, Hutson PH (2008) Chronic low dose corticosterone exposure decreased hippocampal cell proliferation, volume and induced anxiety and depression like behaviours in mice. European Journal of Pharmacology 1: 115-127.

Nahrstedt A, Butterweck V (1997) Biologically active and other chemical constituents of the herb of Hypericum perforatum L. Pharmacopsychiatry 30: 129–134.

Nangia M, SyedW, Doraiswamy PM (2000) Efficacy and safety of St. John's wort for the treatment of major depression. Public Health Nutrition 3: 487–494.

National Committee of Chinese Pharmacopoeia (2005). Pharmacopoeia of the People's Republic of China. Beijing, Chemical Industry Press: 159.

Neigh GN, Nemeroff CB (2006) Reduced glucocorticoid receptors: consequence or cause of depression?. Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism 17: 124-125.

Nestler EJ, Barrot M, DiLeone RJ, Eisch AJ, Gold SJ, Monteggia LM (2002) Neurobiology of depression. Neuron 34: 13–25. Neumeister A, Wood S, Bonne O, Nugent AC, Luckenbaugh DA, Young T, Bain EE, Charney DS, Drevets WC (2005) Reduced hippocampal volume in unmedicated, remitted patients with major depression versus control subjects. Biological Psychiatry 57: 935-957.

Niebrój-Dobosz I, Dziewulska D, Kwieciński H (2004) Oxidative damage to proteins in the spinal cord in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Folia Neuropathologica 42: 151-156.

Nikisch G, Mathé AA, Czernik A, Thiele J, Bohner J, Eap CB, Agren H, Baumann P (2005) Long-term citalopram administration reduces responsiveness of HPA axis in patients with major depression: relationship with S-citalopram concentrations in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and clinical response. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 181: 751-760.

Obrenovitch TP (1999) High extracellular glutamate and neuronal death in neurological disorders. Cause, contribution or consequence?. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 890: 273-286.

Okhawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K (1979) Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Analytical Biochemistry 95: 351–358.

Otsuki K, Uchida S, Watanuki T, Wakabayashi Y, Fujimoto M, Matsubara T, Funato H, Watanabe Y (2008) Altered expression of neurotrophic factors in patients with major depression. Journal of Psychiatric Research 42: 1145-1153.

Overmier JB, Seligman ME (1967) Effects of inescapable shock upon subsequent escape and avoidance responding. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology 63: 28-33.

Owens MJ (2004) Selectivity of antidepressants: from the monoamine hypothesis of depression to the SSRI revolution and beyond. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry Supplement: 5-10.

Paakkari I, Lindsberg P.(1995) Nitric oxide in the central nervous system. Annals of Medicine 27:369–377.

Pacher P, Kecskemeti V (2004) Trends in the development of new antidepressants. Is there a light at the end of the tunnel?. Current Medicinal Chemistry 11: 925-943.

Palucha A, Pilc A (2002) On the role of metabotropic glutamate receptors in the mechanisms of action of antidepressants. Polish Journal of Pharmacology 54: 581–586.

Pariante CM, Lightman SL (2006) The HPA axis in major depression: classical theories and new developments. Trends in Neurosciences 31: 464-468.

Pan Y, Zhang WY, Xia X, Kong LD (2006) Effects of icariin on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis action and cytokine levels in stressed Sprague-Dawley rats. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin 29: 2399-2403.

Papakostas GI, Nelson JC, Kasper S, Möller HJ (2008) A meta-analysis of clinical trials comparing reboxetine, a norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor, with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors for the treatment of major depressive disorder. European Neuropsychopharmacology 18: 122-127.

Papp M, Klimek V, Willner P (1994) Effects of imipramine on serotonergic and beta adrenergic receptor binding in a realistic animal model of depression. Psychopharmacology 114: 309-314.

Papp M, Vassout A, Gentsch C (2002) The NK1-receptor antagonist NKP608 has an antidepressant-like effect in the chronic mild stress model of depression in rats. Behavioural Brain Research 115: 19-23.

Pariante CM, Miller AH (2001) Glucocorticoid receptors in major depression: relevance to pathophysiology and treatment. Biological Psychiatry 49: 391–404.

Paykel ES (2003) Life events and affective disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, Supplementum: 61–66.

Porsolt RD (1981) Behavioural despair. New York: Raven Press 121-139.

Porsolt RD, Bertin A, Jalfre M (1978) "Behavioural despair" in rats and mice: strain differences and the effects of imipramine. European Journal of Pharmacology 47: 379-391.

Porsolt RD, Pichon MLE, Jalfre M (1977) Behavioral despair in mice: a primary screening test for antidepressant. Archives internationales de pharmacodynamie et de thérapie 229: 327–336.

Qin XS, Jin KH, Ding BK, Xie SF, Ma H (2005) Effects of extract of Ginkgo biloba with venlafaxine on brain injury in a rat model of depression. Chinese medical journal 118: 391-397.

Racca S, Spaccamiglio A, Esculapio P, Abbadessa G, Cangemi L, DiCarlo F, Portaleone P (2005) Effects of swim stress and alpha-MSH acute pre-treatment on brain 5-HT transporter and corticosterone receptor. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 81: 894-900.

Rada P, Moreno SA, Tucci S, Gonzalez LE, Harrison T, Chau DT, Hoebel BG, Hernandez L (2003) Glutamate release in the nucleus accumbens is involved in behavioral depression during the Porsolt swim test. Neuroscience 119: 557–565.

Raone A, Cassanelli A, Scheggi S, Rauggi R, Danielli B, De Montis MG (2007) Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal modifications consequent to chronic stress exposure in an experimental model of depression in rats. Neuroscience 146: 1734-1742.

Reul JM, de Kloet ER (1982) Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology 117: 2505–2511.

Ribeiro MC, Barbosa NB, de Almeida TM, Parcianello LM, Perottoni J, de Avila DS, Rocha JB (2009) High-fat diet and hydrochlorothiazide increase oxidative stress in brain of rats. Cell Biochemistry and Function 27: 473-478.

Rodriguez-Landa JF, Contreras CM (2003) A review of clinical and experimental observations about anti-depressant actions and side effects produced by Hypericum perforatum extracts. Phytomedicine 10: 688–699.

Roose SP, Laghrissi-Thode F, Kennedy JS, Nelson JC, Bigger JT Jr, Pollock BG, Gaffney A, Narayan M, Finkel MS, McCafferty J, Gergel I (1998) Comparison of paroxetine and nortriptyline in depressed patients with ischemic heart disease. Journal of the American Medical Association 279:287-291.

Rosen RC, Lane RM, Menza M (1999) Effects of SSRIs on sexual function: a critical review. Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology 19: 67-85.

Rybnikova E, Mironova V, Pivina S, Tulkova E, Ordyan N, Nalivaeva N, Turner A, Samoilov M (2007) Involvement of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the antidepressant-like effects of mild hypoxic preconditioning in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32: 813-823.

Salsali M, Holt A, Baker GB (2004) Inhibitory effects of the monoamine oxidase inhibitor tranylcypromine on the cytochrome P450 enzymes CYP2C19, CYP2C9, and CYP2D6. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology 24: 63-76.

Sapolsky RM (2000) Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Archives General Psychiatry 10: 925–935.

Saylam C, Ucerler H, Kitis O, Ozand E, Gonul AS (2006) Reduced hippocampal volume in drug-free depressed patients. Surgical and Radiologic Anatomy 28: 82-87.

Scates AC and Doraiswamy PM (2000) Reboxetine: A Selective Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitor for the Treatment of Depression. Annals of Pharmacotherapy 34: 1302-1312.

Schmidt AJ, Krieg JC, Vedder H (2002) Differential effects of glucocorticoids and gonadal steroids on glutathione levels in neuronal and glial cell systems. Journal of Neuroscience Research 67: 544-550.

Schulte-Herbrüggen O, Chourbaji S, Müller H, Danker-Hopfe H, Brandwein C, Gass P, Hellweg R (2006) Differential regulation of nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in a mouse model of learned helplessness. Experimental Neurology 202: 404-409.

Schweitzer I, Maguire K, Ng C (2009) Sexual side-effects of contemporary antidepressants: review. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 43: 795-808.

Seligman ME, Beagly G (1975) Learned helplessness in the rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology 88: 534–541.

Seligman ME, Rossellini RA, Kozak MJ (1975) Learned helplessness in the rat: reversibility, time course and immunization. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology 88:542–547.

Sheline YI (2000) 3D MRI studies of neuroanatomic changes in unipolar major depression: the role of stress and medical comorbidity. Biological Psychiatry 48: 791-800.

Sheline YI, Sanghavi M, Mintun MA, Gado MH (1999) Depression duration but not age predicts hippocampal volume loss in medically healthy women with recurrent major depression. Journal of Neuroscience 19: 5034-5043.

Sheikh N, Ahmad A, Siripurapu KB, Kuchibhotla VK, Singh S, Palit G (2007) Effect of Bacopa monniera on stress induced changes in plasma corticosterone and brain monoamines in rats. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 111: 671-676.

Shen X, Tang Y, Yang R, Yu L, Fang T, Duan JA (2009) The protective effect of Zizyphus jujube fruit on carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatic injury in mice by anti-oxidative activities. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 122: 555-560.

Shimizu E, Hashimoto K, Okamura N, Koike K, Komatsu N, Kumakiri C, Nakazato M, Watanabe H, Shinoda N, Okada S, Iyo M (2003) Alterations of serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in depressed patients with or without antidepressants. Biological Psychiatry 54: 70-75.

Slattery DA, Hudson AL, Nutt DJ (2004) Invited review: the evolution of antidepressant mechanisms. Fundamental and Clinical Pharmacology 118: 1-21.

Siuciak JA, Lewis DR, Wiegand SJ, Lindsay RM (1997) Antidepressant-like effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 56: 131-137.

Song C, Zhang XY, Manku M (2009) Increased phospholipase A2 activity and inflammatory response but decreased nerve growth factor expression in the olfactory bulbectomized rat model of depression: effects of chronic ethyl-eicosapentaenoate treatment. Journal of Neuroscience 29: 14-22.

Spillantini MG, Aloe L, Alleva E, De Simone R, Goedert M, Levi-Montalcini R (1989) Nerve growth factor mRNA and protein increase in hypothalamus in a mouse model of aggression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 86: 8555–8559.

Steffens DC, Krishnan KR, Helms MJ (1997) Are SSRIs better than TCAs? Comparison of SSRIs and TCAs: a meta-analysis. Depression and Anxiety 6: 10-18.

Steru L, Chermat R, Thierry B, Simon P (1985) The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. Psychopharmacology 85: 367–370.

Stevinson C, Ernst E (1999) Hypericum for depression. An update of the clinical evidence. European Neuropsychopharmacology 9: 501–505.

Stewart JW, Tricamo E, McGrath PJ, Quitkin FM (1997) Prophylactic efficacy of phenelzine and imipramine in chronic atypical depression: likelihood of recurrence on discontinuation after 6 months' remission. American Journal of Psychiatry 154: 31-36.

Stockmeier CA, Mahajan GJ, Konick LC, Overholser JC, Jurjus GJ, Meltzer HY, Uylings HB, Friedman L, Rajkowska G (2004) Cellular changes in the postmortem hippocampus in major depression. Biological Psychiatry 56: 640–650.

Sullivan PF, Neale MC, Kendler KS (2000) Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Psychiatry 157: 1552-1562.

Suzuki E, Yagi G, Nakaki T, Kanba S, Asai M (2001) Elevated plasma nitrate levels in depressive states. Journal of Affective Disorders 63: 221-224.

Taavitsainen P, Juvonen R, Pelkonen O (2001) In vitro inhibition of cytochrome P450 in human liver microsomes by potent CYP2A6 inhibitor. enzymes а trans-2-phenylcyclopropylamine (tranylcypromine), and its nonamine analog, cyclopropylbenzene. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 29: 217-222.

Takuma K, Hoshina Y, Arai S, Himeno Y, Matsuo A, Funatsu Y, Kitahara Y, Ibi D, Hayase M, Kamei H, Mizoguchi H, Nagai T, Koike K, Inoue M, Yamada K (2007) Ginkgo biloba extract EGb 761 attenuates hippocampal neuronal loss and cognitive dysfunction resulting

from chronic restraint stress in ovariectomized rats. Neuroscience 149: 256-262.

Thase ME, Entsuah AR, Rudolph RL (2001) Remission rates during treatment with venlafaxine or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. British Journal of Psychiatry 178: 234-241.

Thase ME, Nierenberg AA, Keller MB, Panagides J; Relapse Prevention Study Group (2001)

Thompson C (2002) Onset of action of antidepressants: results of different analyses. Human Psychopharmacology Supplement: S27-32.

Tong XX, Tong ET (2009) The history and development of antidepressants. Medical Herald 28: 135-139.

Tõnissaar M, Mällo T, Eller M, Häidkind R, Kõiv K, Harro J (2008) Rat behavior after chronic variable stress and partial lesioning of 5-HT-ergic neurotransmission: effects of citalopram. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 32: 164-177.

Topic B, Huston JP, Namestkova K, Zhu SW, Mohammed AH, Schulz D (2008) Extinction-induced "despair" in aged and adult rats: links to neurotrophins in frontal cortex and hippocampus. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 90: 519-526.

van der Hart MG, Czéh B, de Biurrun G, Michaelis T, Watanabe T, Natt O, Frahm J, Fuchs E (2002) Substance P receptor antagonist and clomipramine prevent stress-induced alterations in cerebral metabolites, cytogenesis in the dentate gyrus and hippocampal volume. Molecular Psychiatry 7: 933-941.

von Richthofen S, Lang UE, Hellweg R (2003) Effects of different kinds of acute stress on nerve growth factor content in rat brain. Brain Research 987: 207–213.

Wakamatsu TH, Dogru M, Tsubota K (2008) Tearful relations: oxidative stress, inflammation and eye diseases. Arquivos Brasileiros de Oftalmologia 71: 72-79.

Wang B, Yao YY, Zhou AW, Ge ZD, Chen MZ, Xu SY (1996) Protective effects of total

glucosides of paeony on joint damage in adjuvant arthritis rats. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 10: 211–214.

Wang H, Wei W, Wang NP, Wu CY, Yan SX, Yue L, Zhang LL, Xu SY (2005a) Effects of total glucosides of peony on immunological hepatic fibrosis in rats. World Journal of Gastroenterology 14: 2124-2129.

Wang H, Wei W, Yue L, Wang NP, Gui SY, Hu L, Shun WY, XU SY (2004) Protective effect of total glucosides of paeony on immunological liver injury in mice induced by Bacillus Calmette-Guerin plus lipopolysaccharide. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 20: 875-878.

Wang Q, Liu RX, Bi KS, Guo DA (2005b) HPLC Determination of albiflorin, paeoniflorin, and benzoylpaeoniflorin in total glucoside of paeony capsule. Chinese Traditional and Herbal Drugs 36: 1630–1632.

Wang SH, Wei W, Xu DJ, Xu, SP, Cui Y (2006a) Proliferation inhibition of TGP on SMMC-27721 Cell *in vitro*. Anhui Medical and Pharmaceutical Journal 10: 8-9.

Wang SH, Wei W, Xu DJ, Cui Y (2006b) Proliferation inhibition and mechan ism of TGP on HepG₂ Cell *in vitro*. Acta Universitatis M edicinalis Anhui 41: 547-549.

Wang XM, Li FB, Lu WW, Chen X (2006c) Protective effects of total glycosides of Pacony on acute myocardial ischemia in dogs. Journal of Jilin University (Medicine Edition) 32: 393-396.

Wang YX, Chen MZ, Xu SY (1986) Pharmacological effects of total glucosides of Paeony root. Acta Universitatis Medicinalis Anhui 21: 11-15.

Wang YX, Chen MZ, Xu SY (1988) Analgesic effect of total glucosides of Paeonia lactiflora. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 2: 629.

Watson S, Mackin P (2007) HPA axis function in mood disorders. Psychiatry 5: 166-170.

Willner P, Towell A, Sampson D, Sophokleous S, Muscat R (1987) Reduction of sucrose preference by chronic unpredictable mild stress, and its restoration by a tricyclic

antidepressant. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 93: 358-364.

Willner P (1997) Validity, reliability and utility of the chronic mild stress model of depression: a 10-year review and evaluation. Psychopharmacology 134: 319–29.

Willner P (2005) Chronic mild stress (CMS) revisited: consistency and behavioural-neurobiological concordance in the effects of CMS. Neuropsychobiology 52: 90-110.

Wong ML, Licinio J (2001) Research and treatment approaches to depression. Nature reviews. Neuroscience 2: 343-351.

Woolf AD, Erdman AR, Nelson LS, Caravati EM, Cobaugh DJ, Booze LL, Wax PM, Manoguerra AS, Scharman EJ, Olson KR, Chyka PA, Christianson G, Troutman WG (2007) Tricyclic antidepressant poisoning: an evidence-based consensus guideline for out-of-hospital management. Clinical Toxicology 45: 203-233.

Wu HP, Zhu XG (2001) The protective effects of TGP on local cerebral ischemia in rat. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 17: 223-225.

Wu Y, Ren K, Liang C, Yuan L, Qi X, Dong J, Shen J, Lin S (2009) Renoprotective effect of total glucosides of paeony (TGP) and its mechanism in experimental diabetes. Journal of Pharmacological Sciences 109: 78-87.

Xiao X, Liu J, Hu J, Zhu X, Yang H, Wang C, Zhang Y (2008) Protective effects of protopine on hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative injury of PC12 cells via $Ca(^{2+})$ antagonism and antioxidant mechanisms. European Journal of Pharmacology 591: 21-27.

Xie ZL, Wang XH (2005) Clinical study of Jiawei Sini Decoction in the treatment of 38 dysthymic patients. Chinese Journal of Information on TCM 12: 8–9.

Xu HM, Wei W, Jia XY, Chang Y., Zhang L (2007) Effects and mechanisms of total glucosides of peony on adjuvant arthritis in rats. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 109: 442-448.

Xu J, Wang S, Lin Y, Cao L, Wang R, Chi Z (2009) Ghrelin protects against cell death of hippocampal neurons in pilocarpine-induced seizures in rats. Neuroscience Letters 453: 58-61.

Xu Y, Ku B, Tie L, Yao H, Jiang W, Ma X, Li X (2006) Curcumin reverses the effects of chronic stress on behavior, the HPA axis, BDNF expression and phosphorylation of CREB. Brain Research 1122: 56-64.

Yamada M, Yasuhara H (2004) Clinical pharmacology of MAO inhibitors: safety and future. Neurotoxicology 25: 215-221.

Yang J, Wang J, Jiang W, Ma CG, Xu SX (2001) Effects of total paeony glycoside on learning and memory capacity and related substances of senile Mice induced by D-galactose. Chinese Pharmacological B ulletin 17: 697-700.

Yang XJ, Li JJ, Kyoshi NH, Wei MX (2002) Study on mechanism of TGP acting on colon smooth muscle of Guinea Pig. Chinese Journal of Integrated Traditional and Western Medicine On Gastro-spleen 10: 151-163.

Yang Y, Lv WW, Song YS, Liu ZH (2006) Study on the antithrombotic effects of total glucosides of paeony. Chinese Traditional and Herbal Drugs 37: 1066-1068.

Yazdanparast R, Bahramikia S, Ardestani A (2008) Nasturtium officinale reduces oxidative stress and enhances antioxidant capacity in hypercholesterolaemic rats. Chemico-Biological Interactions 172: 176-184.

Yokozawa T, Kim YA, Kim HY, Okamoto T, Sei Y (2007) Protective effect of the Chinese prescription Kangen-karyu against high glucose-induced oxidative stress in LLC-PK1 cells. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 109: 113-120.

Yu IT, Lee SH, Lee YS, Son H (2004) Differential effects of corticosterone and dexamethasone on hippocampal neurogenesis in vitro. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 317: Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 484-490.

Yu SW, Wang H, Dawson TM, Dawson VL (2003) Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 and apoptosis inducing factor in neurotoxicity. Neurobiology of Disease 14: 303-317.

Zafir A, Banu N (2007) Antioxidant potential of fluoxetine in comparison to Curcuma longa in restraint-stressed rats. European Journal of Pharmacology 572: 23-31.

Zafir A, Banu N (2009) Induction of oxidative stress by restraint stress and corticosterone treatments in rats. Indian Journal of Biochemistry and Biophysics 46: 53-58.

Zetin M, Hoepner CT, Bjornson L (2006) Rational antidepressant selection: applying evidence-based medicine to complex real-world patients. Psychopharmacology Bulletin 39: 38-104.

Zhan KS, Yu NS, Zhu ZL, Li YA, Xie HS, Sun GP, Wei W (2006) The clinic research of the combined TGP and chemotherapy remedy for NSCLC. Chinese Journal of Primary Medicine and Pharmacy 13: 1645-1647.

Zhang AP, Chen MZ, Xu SY (1993) Effects of total glucosides of paeony on sleep-waking rhythm in rats. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 9: 454-457.

Zhang H, Wei WS, Chen MZ, Xu SY (1990) Immunomodulatory effects of total glucosides of Paeonia lactifiora and their mechanisms. Chinese Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology 4: 190-193.

Zhang KS, Wang H, Wei W (2006) Protective effect and possible mechanisms of total glucosides of paeony on chemical liver injury induced in mice. Acta Universitatis Medicinalis Anhui 41: 664-666.

Zhang L, Dawson VL, Dawson TM (2005) Role of nitric oxide in Parkinson's disease. Pharmacology and Therapeutics 109: 33-41.

Zhang MZ, Zhang QY, Cui GB (1998) Clinical study of XiaoYao-San in the treatment of depressive neurosis. Journal of Shangdong University of TCM 22: 34–37.

Zhang P, Zhang JJ, Su J, Qi XM, Wu YG, Shen JJ (2009) Effect of total glucosides of paeony on the expression of nephrin in the kidneys from diabetic rats. American Journal of

Chinese Medicine 37: 295-307.

Zhang XY, L X (2002) Development of the study on chemical constituents of *Paeonia lactif lora* Pall.. Journal of Shenyang Pharmaceutical University 19: 70-73.

Zhang Y, Ming L, Wang Y, Ma CX, Ma CG, Xu SY (1994) Anticonvulsant action of total glucosides of paeony root. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 10: 371-374.

Zhang YM (2001) Stress, brain damage and depression. Foreign Medical Sciences-Section of Psychiatry. 28: 105-109.

Zhang YM, Yang Q, Xu CT, Li KS, Li WQ (2003) Effects of phenytoin on morphology and structure of hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons of rats in chronic stress. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 24: 403-407.

Zhang ZQ, Yuan L, Yang M, Luo ZP, Zhao YM (2002) The effect of Morinda officinalis How, a Chinese traditional medicinal plant, on the DRL 72-s schedule in rats and the forced swimming test in mice. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 72: 39-43.

Zhao Z, Wang W, Guo H, Zhou D (2008) Antidepressant-like effect of liquiritin from Glycyrrhiza uralensis in chronic variable stress induced depression model rats. Behavioural Brain Research 194: 108-113.

Zheng H, Liu Y, Li W, Yang B, Chen D, Wang X, Jiang Z, Wang H, Wang Z, Cornelisson G, Halberg F (2006) Beneficial effects of exercise and its molecular mechanisms on depression in rats. Behavioural Brain Research 168: 47-55.

Zheng YQ, Wei W (2005) Total glucosides of paeony suppresses adjuvant arthritis in rats and intervenes cytokine-signaling between different types of synoviocytes. International Immunopharmacology 5:1560-1573.

Zhong XM, Mao QQ, Huang Z, Wei JP, Liang ZH (2006). The effect of Suyu capsule on behavior and injury of hippocampal neurons in the depression model mice. China Journal of Chinese Materia Medica 31: 1192-1195.

Zhou BH, Liu M, Guo ZL, Huang FW (2009) Effect of active site of Xiangsha

Liujunzitang on behavior and injury of hippocampal neurons in depression model mice. China Journal of Chinese Materia Medica 34: 2247-2251.

Zhou DY, Xu XM, Dai H, Feng J (2006) Efect of total glucosides of paeony on mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis in rats. Acta Universitatis Medicinalis Anhui 41: 146-149.

Zhou H, Zhang AP, Chen MZ, Xu SX, Wang GL (1994) The modulatory effects of TGP on hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenal axis and immune function in stress rats. Chinese Pharmacological Bulletin 10: 429-432.

Zhou J, Li L, Tang S, Cao X, Li Z, Li W, Li C, Zhang X (2008) Effects of serotonin depletion on the hippocampal GR/MR and BDNF expression during the stress adaptation. Behavioural Brain Research 195: 129-138.

Zhou Q, Li ZG (2003) Pharmaceutical effects of total glucosides of peony and its application in autoimmune disease. Chinese Journal of New Drugs and Clinical Remedies 22: 687-691.

Zhou QG, Hu Y, Hua Y, Hu M, Luo CX, Han X, Zhu XJ, Wang B. Xu JS, Zhu DY (2007a) Neuronal nitric oxide synthase contributes to chronic stress-induced depression by suppressing hippocampal neurogenesis. Journal of Neurochemistry 103: 1843-1854.

Zhou YL, Zhang L, Liu W (2007b) Protective effect of total glucosides of paeony against acute hepatic injury induced by tripterygium glycosides tablet in mice. Tianjin Journal of Traditional Chinese Medine 24: 61-62.

Zhou ZJ and Hu JX (2007) Effects of compatibility of total glucosides of paeony total flavonoids of Cuscuta chinensis on serum SOD and MDA in rats exposed to mental stress. Practical Clinical Medicine 8: 17-19.

Zhu MY, Wang WP, Bissette G (2006a) Neuroprotective effects of agmatine against cell damage caused by glucocorticoids in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Neuroscience 4: 2019-2027.

Zhu W, Ma S, Qu R, Kang D (2006b) Antidepressant-like effect of saponins extracted from Chaihu-jia-longgu-muli-tang and its possible mechanism. Life Sciences 8: 749-756.